DEPOSIT AND CONSULTATION OF DISSERTATION

One copy of your dissertation will be deposited in ORA (Oxford University Research Archive), where it is intended to be freely available online. In order to facilitate this, you are requested to complete and sign the form below.

Please use block capitals
Surname
Zou
Et al. as a see / a C III
First names (in full)
Xinyi
Faculty board EDUCATION
Degree name and pathway
Digital and Social Change
Title of dissertation
Perspectives and Experiences of Gender Inclusion for STEM Programs Through an
Intersectional Lens
N.B. The title stated here must be precisely the same as that stated on the title page of the
thesis submitted. A candidate wishing to amend the title previously approved by the faculty
must apply to the faculty board for permission to do so.
Supervisor
Laura Hakimi
Subject keywords Enter your own keywords or phrases to describe your work.
This information helps us describe your work in ORA
Conder inclusion for STEM, inclusive education, cross cultural education
Gender inclusion for STEM, inclusive education, cross-cultural education, intersectionality
Intersectionality
Research methods used This information helps us describe your work on SOLO for future students
e.g. quantitative, interviews, vocabulary test, systematic review, etc.
Qualitative (online individual interviews)
Qualitative (online individual interviews)



Declaration by the candidate as author of the dissertation

- 1. I understand that I am the owner of this dissertation and that the copyright rests with me unless I specifically transfer it to another person.
- 2. I understand that the Department requires that I shall deposit one copy of my dissertation in the Oxford University Research Archive ('ORA') where it shall be freely available online for use in accordance with ORA's Terms and Conditions of Use [https://ora.ox.ac.uk/terms_of_use].
- 3. I understand that this dissertation should not contain material that can be used to personally identify individuals or specific groups of individuals, and that such material should be removed before this dissertation is deposited in ORA.
- 4. I agree to be bound by the terms of the ORA Grant of Non-exclusive Licence [www.bodleian.ox.ac.uk/ora/deposit-in-ora/deposit-licence] and I warrant that to the best of my knowledge, making my thesis available on the internet will not infringe copyright or any other rights of any other person or party, nor contain defamatory material.
- 5. I agree that my dissertation shall be available for download in ORA in accordance with paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 above.

Signed [an electronic signature is sufficient]: Zou Xinyi

Date: 2022/08/10



Department of Education, University of Oxford Assignment Cover Sheet

Candidate Number Please note, your student number is NOT your candidate number	Zou Xinyi
Assignment e.g. CDE: Interventions or CIE2	Dissertation
Term Term assignment issued, e.g. MT or HT	TT
Question If applicable, please note the question number and the FULL question title	Perspectives and Experiences of Gender Inclusion for STEM Programs Through an Intersectional Lens
Wordcount	18,812

Please remember:

- to make absolutely sure you are using your candidate number, not your student number. If the number you are writing on your assignment matches the number on your university card, you have are using the wrong number.
- if you have used a professional proof-reader, their expertise should be used ONLY for the purpose of checking the text of your work. It is not their role to edit, rewrite and amend your work for you.
- to make sure you have followed proper academic practice regarding referencing and the citation of sources.
- to attach a second relevant cover sheet if you have a disability such as dyslexia or dyspraxia. These are available from the Higher Degrees Office, but the Disability Advisory Service will also be able to guide you.
- to fully anonymise your assignment and to name your file appropriately with your candidate number and assignment



Perspectives and Experiences of Gender Inclusion for STEM Programs Through an Intersectional Lens

Zou Xinyi

Trinity Term 2022

Dissertation submitted in part-fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Education (Digital and Social Change)

Acknowledgement

I thank my participants, without whom this research would only remain an idea. Many thanks to Professor Rebecca Eynon and Professor Niall Winters for their support and knowledge, as well as for assembling such an amazing cohort. I'm so grateful to my supervisor, Dr Laura Hakimi, for her patience, expertise, and mentorship.

I'm immensely thankful for my parents and partner, friends and family. You are my anchors.

My gratitude to all my teachers of the qi gong and meditation lineages. These practices keep

me grounded through all the wu chang and uncertainties.

Lastly, I thank you for taking the time in reading this dissertation.

Abstract

Background

STEM is becoming increasingly important in determining a country's economic and social progress. Despite decades of research and advocacy, women remain underrepresented in STEM education and professions. Such STEM gender gaps, with certain regional and subject differentiations, nevertheless remain as global issues further exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Informal educational initiatives on GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) emerged as part of the solution. In recent years, they also have attracted increasing partnership and investment interests from the public and private sectors. However, relatively little evidence exists to demonstrate how the impacts of GIFSTEM initiatives are experienced by different participants, particularly those outside the US. There are also increasing questions about the monolithic framing of gender in these programs.

Research Design

This research evaluates the experiences of learners and project leaders of GIFSTEM organizations in a range of geographical settings through an intersectional lens. In this qualitative study, data is collected through 13 individual online semi-structured interviews. Participants represent two groups, those who are learners (both past and present), and those who are project organizers and leaders of different GIFSTEM organizations.

Findings

Data from interviews show that learners find GIFSTEM programs helpful in three ways: community, networking-mentoring, as well as a broadened understanding of possible paths in STEM education and professions. Depending on their intersectional identities, learners also experience two barriers, heightened visibility and feelings of exclusion due to identity metrics other than gender, that make them feel uncertain about remaining in STEM. Furthermore, learner participants feel that GIFSTEM programs do little, sometimes even the opposite, in mitigating these issues. Project leader interviews demonstrate that, depending on the specific programming goals, different numerical metrics are used, in combination with qualitative data from individual participations, for impact measurements of their affiliated GIFSTEM organization. Project leaders also have to make a series of pragmatic considerations in the process of developing and implementing a sustainable GIFSTEM organization. For instance, decisions regarding target learner demographics, program contextualization, and navigating

relationships with commercial partners. In the end, individual GIFSTEM organizations must make strategic and difficult decisions depending on their operational contexts to reach their respective end goals.

Acronyms

- GIFSTEM: gender inclusion for STEM
- GIFT: gender inclusion for Tech (a specific subset of GIFSTEM initiatives)
- CS: Computer Science
- EE: Electrical Engineering
- FAANG: An acronym describing five prominent American technology companies: Facebook(Meta), Amazon, Apple, Netflix, and Google (Hobbs, 2022).

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	5
ABSTRACT	6
INTRODUCTION	10
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	12
1.1 THE STEM GENDER GAPS: AN INTERNATIONAL PHENOMENON	
1.1.2 Contributors to the STEM Gender Gaps	
1.2 MOTIVATIONS BEHIND PUBLIC AND PRIVATE EFFORTS TO BRIDGE THE STEM GENDE	
GAPS	
1.2.1 Policies for Gender Equality in STEM	
1.2.2. Economic Incentives: The Digital Skills Crisis and Market Push for Diversity	
1.3 EFFORTS IN INFORMAL EDUCATION TO BRIDGE THE STEM GENDER GAPS	
1.4 Gaps Within Current GIFSTEM Literature	
1.4.1 Difficulty of Evaluation and Need for More Qualitative Evidence	
1.4.2 Need for Breadth of Geographical Reach	
1.4.3 Need for Voices of GIFSTEM Project Organisers	18
1.4.4 Need for An Approach Which Does Not Treat Women as A Homogenous Categ	ory
1.5 RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
1.6 Intersectionality and The Evaluations of GIFSTEM Programs	20
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY	23
2.1 Subjectivity and Positionality	23
2.2 Research Design	24
2.2.1 Procedure	24
2.2.2 Reflections	25
2.3 Sampling	
2.3.1 Sampling of Learner Participants	26
2.3.2 Sampling of Project Leaders	29
2.4 Data Gathering	
2.5 Analysis	33
2.6 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	34
2.6.1 Data Presentation: Vignettes and Opening Quotes in Reporting Findings	35
2.7 MITIGATING LIMITATIONS AND ROOM FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
CHAPTER 3: FINDINGS	37
RQ1: What are the benefits of GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) program	
PERCEIVED BY DIFFERENT LEARNERS?	
3.1.1 Community	
3.1.2 Networking-Mentoring	
3.1.3 The Unexpected Benefit: Possibilities of Different STEM Paths	

RQ2: What are the barriers learners feel like they face when considering	
STEM-related professions/postgraduate studies, and to what extent are they	Y
MITIGATED BY GIFSTEM PROGRAMS?	45
3.2.1 Heightened Visibility and The Pressure for Excellence	45
3.2.2 Included but Excluded: An Intersectional Lens	48
RQ3: What are the (a) aspirations of (b) challenges for different GIFSTEM	
ORGANIZATIONS?	
3.3.1 Goals, Program Strategies, and Impact Measurement of GIFSTEM Programs	
3.3.2 Challenges and Pragmatic Considerations of GIFSTEM Organizations	52
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSIONS	60
4.1 Findings and Research Questions	
4.2 Contributions, Limitations, and Future Research Directions	
4.2.1 A Framework that Does Not Treat 'Women' in 'STEM' as Monolithic Categoria	
4.2.2 An Intersectional Lens: Beyond the 'Men vs. Women' Dichotomy	
4.2.3 Perspectives of POLs in Different GIFSTEM Organizations	
4.3 SUGGESTIONS FOR GIFSTEM ORGANIZATIONS	
4.3.1 Wide-Ranging Considerations for Board Members	
4.3.2 Internal Surveys for Intersectional Assessment	
4.4 Summary	
CONCLUSION	67
REFERENCES	69
APPENDIX A	108
Interview Schedule	108
APPENDIX B	110
CUREC	110
APPENDIX C	124
Written Informed Consent Form	124

Introduction

STEM disciplines are increasingly crucial in determining a country's economic and social growth (Hammond et al., 2020). Although research on the underrepresentation of women in STEM education and professions, described as the 'STEM gender gaps' has been active for several decades, the issues remain. With varying degrees of differences depending on the geographical context and the specific STEM subject, the STEM gender gaps nevertheless are global (Alam & Tapia, 2020; Bello et al., 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic has also disproportionately affected women in science and engineering compared to their male counterparts, influenced by factors such as social gender roles (OECD, 2020; Zheng & Walsham, 2021; Gandolfi et al., 2021).

In response, GIFSTEM organizations (gender inclusion for STEM), informal educational initiatives, blossomed as one solution to the STEM gender gaps. Outlined by Petrucci (2020), GIFSTEM programs typically adopt one or more strategies (1) Provide mentorship, networking, or community support to women interested in or currently involved in CS education or/and careers (e.g. Africa Summit on Women, Girls in Technology). (2) Deliver skill training and development services to individual learners (e.g., Code First Girls) or in a group environment (e.g. Code.org). (3) Equip individual learners with anti-discrimination resources in their study and work contexts (e.g., Project Include, Girl Up) or some relief of structural gender difficulties for learners who desire to study or work in the area (e.g. British Council scholarships for women in STEM).

The increased number of GIFSTEM programs, in addition to public and private interests in them, foster rich academic research that evaluates them. Convertino (2020), for instance, examines the experiences of women of color CS students of the Grace Hopper Celebration, one of the largest GIFSTEM conferences globally, in the US. The author also observes the tendency in dominant literature which uses the 'women in STEM' umbrella without inner differentiations, thereby ignoring the specific needs of learners with multiple underrepresented identities.

Against this backdrop, this research adopts intersectionality as a framework and investigates perceptions and experiences by learners and project organizers of GIFSTEM organizations in different contexts. This research stem from several questions: What do we mean when we say 'gender inclusion in STEM'? What groups of learners are included, and subsequently, excluded? How do other identity metrics interact with 'gender' in these informal educational spaces for learners? What are the considerations that go into the

development and implementation of GIFSTEM programs, and what are the challenges project leaders face?

This paper starts with a comprehensive review of relevant literature (Chapter 2), from the 'STEM gender gaps' to motivations behind public and private interests in the topics. The review also presents common strategies adopted by GIFSTEM organizations, informal educational efforts to bridge them, as well as four gaps in current literature that evaluates GIFSTEM initiatives. Then, the intersectional lens and research questions are introduced. Chapter 3 proceeds to outline methodological considerations of this qualitative study, including the choices of online semi-structured interviews, sampling of both learners and project leaders, data gathering, analysis and presentation. Next, in Findings (Chapter 4), seven themes corresponding to the three research questions are presented. Lastly, the Discussions chapter further develops the themes and explore their implications for future research on GIFSTEM, finishing with two suggestions for GIFSTEM organizations.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

"The economic and social prosperity of countries depends on the state of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM). Yet, women and girls continue to be underrepresented in STEM studies and careers... Beyond the wage gap that comes with women being underrepresented in STEM jobs, the gender gap in STEM is an inefficient allocation of labor and talent, and a missed opportunity for economies." (Hammond et al., 2020, p. vii)

In this chapter, I first present the STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) gender gaps as an international phenomenon with regional variations, as well as the contributors to the issue. I next present informal education GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) initiatives and some common strategies such organizations adopt. Then, the political, as well as economic, incentives behind policymakers and the private sector in investing and partnering with GIFSTEM programs, are laid out. Finally, I present four gaps in current GIFSTEM literature, the research questions of this study, as well as intersectionality as an underpinning theoretical framework.

1.1 The STEM Gender Gaps: An International Phenomenon

1.1.1 Statistics: STEM Gender Gaps in Education and Professions

The state of a country's economic and social development increasingly depends on STEM (Tas, 2011). Despite decades of writing and advocacy, women continue to be underrepresented in STEM education and professions (Margolis & Fisher, 2002; Beyer, 2014; Sax et al., 2017). The phenomenon, known as the 'STEM gender gaps', varies between countries and different STEM disciplines and is a topic of worldwide debate (Hammond et al., 2020; Bello et al., 2021).

Globally, women represent 35% of all students enrolled in a STEM discipline in higher education (Alam & Tapia, 2020). Even when enrolled, there is a higher exit rate for women in STEM than in other disciplines (UNESCO, 2017). There are, of course, regional differences in the data (Bello et al., 2021). For instance, more than half of graduates of STEM disciplines in Latin American countries such as Peru and Honduras are women (The World Bank, 2020). However, even in countries with a more balanced gender ratio of STEM higher

education degrees, women are less likely than men to enter, and more likely to leave, STEM professions (Hammond et al., 2020).

Of all AI (Artificial Intelligence) professionals globally, only 22% of them are women (World Economic Forum, 2018). In the 73 countries where data is available, only eight have reached gender parity of STEM professionals: Algeria, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Mozambique, North Macedonia, Sri Lanka and Trinidad and Tobago (Bello et al., 2021). In most countries, women often make up less than 20% of the STEM workforce (UNESCO, 2015; PWC, 2017; Schwab et al., 2019). The gender pay gap, a phenomenon in many other sectors, also applies in STEM careers, even in countries where gender parity is reached in the industry (Belgorodskiy et al., 2012; Segovia -Pérez et al., 2020).

Evidence also suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic is disproportionately affecting women in science and engineering compared to their male counterparts (Bello et al., 2021; Zheng & Walsham, 2021; Gandolfi et al., 2021). For instance, Viglione (2020) found women researchers¹ are posting preprint at a slower rate and starting fewer new projects than their male peers. Furthermore, despite female scientists being at the forefront of COVID-19 response (OWSD, 2020; OECD, 2020), they are globally underrepresented in public pandemic commentary (Carr, 2020; The Expert Women Project, 2020; Yang & Liu, 2021). With the STEM gender gaps exacerbated by COVID-19, more scholars have started to examine the underlying factors, as well as potential solutions, to the issue.

1.1.2 Contributors to the STEM Gender Gaps

Statistics demonstrate that the gender gaps in STEM education and professions are a global issue with regional variations. Researchers attribute the phenomenon to a 'chilly climate' (Sandler & Hall, 1986; Britton, 2017) which deters women to enter and remain in STEM disciplines and the workforce (Belgorodskiy et al., 2012). Since the early 2000s, there is a growing body of literature on the contributors to the STEM gender gaps, albeit most studies on the topic focus on high-income countries with a relatively small sample (Hammond et al., 2020).

The most prominent branch of evidence suggests that the phenomenon is influenced by gender stereotypes and biases (Leaper & Brown, 2008; Moss-Racusin et al., 2012). For example, Kerkhoven et al. (2016) found that men are more likely to be depicted as science

¹ Data on research occupations is often used as a proxy indication of STEM career gaps (Hammond et al., 2020; Myers et al. 2020; Padayachee et al., 2022).

professionals than women after analysing two online databases for STEM educational materials. Such biases contribute to a lower sense of belonging and self-confidence in STEM among women (Cheryan et al., 2009; Robnett, 2016; Piatek-Jimenez et al., 2018).

Gender stereotypes also extend beyond education settings to the workplace (Metcalf, 2010; Funk & Parker, 2018). There are also other factors, such as lack of childcare support, absence of female role models, and feelings of isolation in the workplace, which block women from entering, remaining, and progressing in STEM-related professions (Ahuja, 2002; Christou & Parmaxi, 2022).

In conjunction with research on the contributors to the STEM gender gaps are efforts to bridge them. GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) programs have emerged as a potential solution to the issue (Petrucci, 2020). The increased amount of GIFSTEM initiatives internationally is accelerated by both the public and private sectors (Quartz, 2015; Fotopoulou, 2019; Savchuk, 2019). Before presenting common frameworks of GIFSTEM initiatives, I first unpack the political and economic motivations behind such growing interests.

1.2 Motivations Behind Public and Private Efforts to Bridge the STEM Gender Gaps

1.2.1 Policies for Gender Equality in STEM

There have been an increasing number of policies in countries around the world that try to recruit and retain more people, including women, to enter and remain in STEM education and professions (Kong et al., 2020). Since the early 2010s, more countries have adopted gender-differentiated policies to address structural barriers (e.g. gender bias) that prevent women from studying and working in STEM disciplines (OECD, 2015).

One motivation behind such policies is to promote gender equality. It has been demonstrated that technologies tend to mirror pre-existing social biases and structures of inequalities (Noble, 2018). From a social justice perspective, women must be decision-makers and designers in technologies' formations and evolvements (UNESCO, 2016; Fotopoulou, 2019). Furthermore, research shows that women's genuine participation in technological development can facilitate their financial and political empowerment (Everts, 1998; Pascall, 2012; Kamberidou & Pascall, 2019). For instance, Denton-Calabrese et al.

(2021) found significant improvements in women's self-concept after learning digital skills, in addition to all participants gaining opportunities for social mobility and financial security.

1.2.2. Economic Incentives: The Digital Skills Crisis and Market Push for Diversity

In addition to gender equality, there is another important reason why there are growing interests from the public and private sectors in bridging the STEM gender gaps. STEM-related fields could provide solutions to global challenges such as the climate crisis and income inequality emerge (Tas, 2011). Amid the risks of a global economic recession, STEM education has arisen as an efficient method for countries to increase their international

competitiveness and foster economic growth (Guyotte et al., 2014; Li & Chiang, 2019). Strong nation-building incentives are behind policies which encourage participation in STEM education and professions, which could then stimulate the economy and enhance social mobility (Quartz, 2015).

This is also against the backdrop of a digital skills crisis (Kamberidou & Pascall, 2020), where there is a global high demand for STEM professionals (Gordon, 2013; Marginson et al., 2013). Increased engagement in STEM promotes the development and sustainment of national economies while equipping citizens with in-demand skills to thrive in changing climates (OECD, 2010). For LMICs (Low- and Middle-Income Countries), the implementation of gender and STEM policies can translate to advancements in the global economy (Tas, 2011). For HI (high income) countries, such policies help maintain their 'leading' positions in the global arena (Selwyn, 2013).

There are also increasing investments from the private sector, particularly Tech (technology) companies, in efforts which bridge the STEM gender gaps (e.g. GIFSTEM programs) (GBN, 2016; White, 2021). While the gender equality incentive remains, there is an additional economic incentive behind this phenomenon: There are financial incentives and repercussions for companies to invest in gender diversity. Savchuk (2019), for instance, investigated 49 announcements by Tech companies in the U.S. between 2014-2018 and found causational relationships between a company's gender diversity status and its share prices. The study also demonstrated a higher increase in stock prices if a company's gender diversity level bests that of industry leaders such as Google (Savchuk, 2019). White (2021) also observes a tendency for Tech companies to invest in GIFSTEM organizations after receiving public backlash regarding the lack of internal diversity. For example, Facebook made a \$250,000 donation to Girls in Tech (Girls in Tech, 2021) just months after criticisms of its

lack of internal diversity (Guynn, 2020). The increased investments in GIFSTEM initiatives make better understanding of their outcomes and learners' experiences imperative.

1.3 Efforts in Informal Education to Bridge the STEM Gender Gaps

While there have certainly been significant efforts to bridge the STEM gender gap in formal education (Rosser, 1995; Tam et al., 2020; Husain, 2022). This research primarily focuses on GIFSTEM initiatives in informal education contexts², often non-profit organizations, that have tried to remedy the issue for two decades. In the beginning, informal educational GIFSTEM initiatives emerged to supplement the formal STEM education of students with accessible and quality learning resources (Maxey & Hynes, 2021). Some GIFSTEM initiatives then evolved to provide both educational and professional development resources (Christou & Parmaxi, 2022).

As outlined by Petrucci (2020), GIFSTEM informal educational programs typically adopt one or more of three strategies: (1) Provide mentorship, networking, or community support to women interested in or currently involved in CS education or/and careers (e.g. Africa Summit on Women, Girls in Technology, The Grace Hopper Celebration). (2) Deliver skill training and development services to individual learners (e.g., Code First Girls) or in a group environment (e.g. Code.org). (3) Equip individual learners with anti-discrimination resources in their study and work contexts (e.g., Project Include, Girl Up) or some relief of structural gender difficulties for learners who desire to study or work in the area (e.g. British Council scholarships for women in STEM).

The three approaches are not mutually exclusive. In practice, many GIFSTEM programs adopt both, if not all, of them to address the numerous causes that make it difficult for women learners to enter and remain in STEM education and professions (e.g. Neythri, Black Girls Code, I am the CODE).

With the increase of GIFSTEM programs comes academic discussions on their impact evaluations (Bilimoria & Liang, 2014; Britton, 2017; Tao, 2018; Miles et al., 2022). For instance, Darke et al. (2002) conclude that while there is evidence to support the effectiveness of the GIFSTEM initiative they examined, the extensiveness of such good practices across different organizations is unclear. Watermeyer (2012), in their study on learners' perceptions

16

² Specifically, out-of-school programs. For studies on similar contexts, see Achiam & Holmegaard (2017) and Rushton & King (2020).

of an informal STEM outreach program in the U.K, argues that GIFSTEM programs, while having the benefit of community-building, could also reinforce existing gender biases.

Since 2020, there has been a new wave of literature which evaluates GIFSTEM organizations through critical perspectives (Agommuoh & Ndirika, 2020; Tildesley et al., 2021; Paganini et al., 2021). Convertino (2020), for example, utilizes qualitative methods to explore how women CS students of color in a southwestern U.S. university navigate their intersectional identities in GIFSTEM, specifically GIFT (gender inclusion for Tech). Petrucci (2020) examines how individuals of minority genders, specifically women and non-binary people, in the Tech industry experience gender-inclusive meetup groups through a postfeminist lens. Bayaga (2022) adopts a decolonial intersectional framework and examines the career interests of double underrepresented (race and gender) participants in GIFSTEM programs in the U.S.. There are, however, four gaps in the current literature on GIFSTEM programs.

1.4 Gaps Within Current GIFSTEM Literature

1.4.1 Difficulty of Evaluation and Need for More Qualitative Evidence

"More research is also needed to recognize and understand how gender interacts with other axes of experience to rearticulate the very terms of legitimacy and intelligibility in CS". (Convertino, 2020, p.604)

Convertino (2020) notes that the current landscape of GIFSTEM literature has insufficient qualitative studies that evaluate learners' experiences. The author calls for more research that utilizes qualitative methods to examine various intersections of different learners which affect their perceptions of GIFSTEM programs. Friedensen et al. (2021) also comment on the lack of qualitative research on how learners of various underrepresented identities experience STEM learning environments, including informal education communities: "As of yet, limited qualitative evidence is available to understand how MIoSG [minoritized identities of sexuality and/or gender] students make meaning of these experiences across disciplines" (p. 337).

1.4.2 Need for Breadth of Geographical Reach

"More research is needed to better understand the influence of national context... It is important not to assume results will be similar across contexts, as the main driver of inequalities by characteristics such as gender and social background are not the characteristics themselves, but the systems of power that create and sustain them." (Mooney & Becker, 2020; p,278)

There is an additional need for research which examines GIFSTEM initiatives beyond the U.S. context. Ozkaleli (2018), exploring gender diversity organizing in Turkey, comments on the "liberal Western" tendencies in dominant literature on diversity and inclusion in organizations (p.140). There are some GIFSTEM studies outside of the U.S.. For instance, In South Africa, Bayaga (2022) conducts a qualitative study which explores correlations between underrepresented learners of STEM disciplines and their interests in pursuing STEM careers, specifically focusing on metrics of gender and race. In Ireland, Mooney & Becker (2020) utilizes quantitative methods to investigate the intersectional link between the sense of belonging, gender identity, and minority status of undergraduate CS students at University College Dublin. They found a decreased sense of belonging among students who identify both as a woman and a minority, while students who identify as a woman but not a minority had a sense of belonging equivalent to those who identified as men (Mooney & Becker, 2020).

This research seeks to present a range of spatial contexts in which learners experience such initiatives (Mcmaster & Cook, 2019). Learner participants of this research also come from a range of contexts currently underrepresented in literature (Vitores & Gil-Juárez, 2016).

1.4.3 Need for Voices of GIFSTEM Project Organisers

"There is a scarcity of research that examines the experience of CS teachers... research that centers their perspectives in grappling with their teaching practices and role in the educational experience of their students." (Johnson et al., 2020, p.2)

Most studies on GIFSTEM organizations tend to not include the accounts of program organizers. Johnson et al. (2020) point out that current research on the CS gender gaps primarily focuses on students with little consideration for how the identities of the organizers of CS education initiatives shape the program structures and deliveries. Similarly, Tefera (2017) observes the dominant discourse rarely "consider[s] teachers' social and emotional needs" (p.677).

This research includes personal accounts from 5 POL (project leaders and organizers) of different GIFSTEM programs. It presents the relationship between their intersectional identity and the program agendas, thereby exploring how POL's lived experiences influence their programming designs and priorities.

1.4.4 Need for An Approach Which Does Not Treat Women as A Homogenous Category

"Existing scholarship... has the potential to reify the silencing and erasure of individuals if scholars and practitioners are not considering within-group specificities when examining collective, shared ontological experiences... we call for the use of nuanced-intersectional approaches to examine and unpack the experiences and needs of individuals within the WOC [women of colour] umbrella term in STEM" (Miles et al., 2022, p. 233)

Miles et al. (2022) critically examined research using the umbrella term 'women of color' in STEM in the U.S. and illustrated that specificity is needed when conducting research with underrepresented groups in STEM. Echoing this sentiment, Convertino (2020) advocates for more research on different GIFSTEM learners: "Social isolation, exclusion, and connection are contextual, contingent, and intersectional experiences that cannot be collapsed into a single, monolithic meta-narrative" (p. 604). Tefera (2017) also observes that the experiences and needs of women with disabilities are often ignored in GIFSTEM research and organizations (p. 685).

The danger of treating 'women' as a homogenous group with little to no inner differentiation is not recent (Butler, 1990) nor unique to GIFSTEM literature (Smooth, 2013). More research that accounts for the nuanced and multifaceted experiences of different learners is needed, particularly in light of compounded inequalities since the COVID-19 pandemic (Myers et al. 2020; Hammond et al., 2020; Bello et al., 2021).

1.5 Research Questions

It is against this backdrop that this study sets out to address the following research questions:

- RQ1: What are the benefits of GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) programs perceived by different learners?
- RQ2: What are the barriers learners feel like they face when considering STEM-related professions/postgraduate studies, and to what extent are they mitigated by GIFSTEM programs?
- RQ3: What are the (a) aspirations of (b) challenges for different GIFSTEM organizations?

The increased interest from both the public (Jr & Sawyer III, 2014; Patterson et al., 2020) and the private sectors (GBN, 2016; Writer, 2021) in programs that try to recruit and retain women in STEM education and professions present opportunities to analyze their contributions in bridging the STEM gender gaps (Dobbin & Kalev, 2016). By addressing these research questions, this study adds to the discourse on GIFSTEM initiatives by presenting their perceived benefits by learners in a cross-cultural context, as well as project leaders' considerations when developing programming. Using intersectionality as conceptual underpinning, this research presents personal accounts of learners and project leaders on their experiences participating in and organizing GIFSTEM programs.

1.6 Intersectionality and The Evaluations of GIFSTEM Programs

The concept of intersectionality originated from the wave of Black Feminist Criticism in the US (Hooks, 1981; Lorde, 1984; Crenshaw, 989). It was initially used to reveal how African American women experience compound effects of multiple systematic marginalizations due to different metrics of their identities such as race, class, and gender (Crenshaw, 1991). It seeks to illuminate the interwoven nature of various axis that compose one's identity, which makes them inseparable on an individual level (Davis, 1983). Often with a focus on marginalized groups, intersectional approaches analyze the relationships between one's experiences due to different social categories their identity encompasses and broader systems of power and oppression.

GIFSTEM education programs have a premise which highlights 'gender' as the defining feature of individual learners (Faulkner, 2009). The emphasis on 'gender' being the primary metric of one's identity is not just evident in GIFSTEM programs but in the wider male-dominated field of Tech (Cheryan & Plaut, 2010). It is, therefore, useful to analyze the experiences and perceptions of learners and POL of GIFSTEM programs through the lens of intersectionality. It opens up opportunities to explore how the gender of learners and POL interacts with other dimensions of their experiences when participating in and organizing GIFSTEM education programs.

Several empirical studies on GIFSTEM programs have adopted intersectionality as an analytic framework due to the complex contributing factors that result in the underrepresentation of women in STEM education and professions (Good et al., 2012; Lewis Ellison et al., 2020; Walt & Barker, 2020). However, they tend to have a U.S. focus, perhaps due to the framework's American origin. Charleston et al. (2014) conducted a case study which explores the importance of social networks at the intersections of race and gender in African American women's persistence in STEM degrees and careers through surveys and focus group interviews. O'Brien et al. (2015) analyzed 1,772,133 surveys filled out by firstyear students of an American higher education institution between 1990 and 1999, comparing data from African American students and European American students. They found a positive relationship between a student's gender and race and their tendency to major in a STEM subject (e.g. African American women students are less likely to major in STEM than their European American men and women counterparts) (O'Brien et al., 2015). Ro & Loya (2015) conducted quantitative research which evaluates self-assessed learning outcomes by women and minority students in engineering. In the study, the only instance where a minority group assessed their skills to be higher than their White counterparts is Latinx students in self-rating their leadership skills (Ro & Loya, 2015). Tao (2018) also utilized quantitative methods and found significant racial and ethnic differences in earning gap in academic STEM fields in the U.S, despite overall improvements in earnings by gender compared to previous studies. These studies on gender gaps and STEM education and professions illustrate that it is essential to indicate specific intersections when analyzing the topic. Otherwise, as Ireland et al. (2018) point out, there runs the risk of experiences of intersectionally marginalized women in STEM education and professions being hidden.

This study adopts intersectionality as a theoretical framework with acknowledgement of its limitations. As the concept travels beyond the feminist scholarship and influences wideranging studies, including education studies, there nevertheless is very little consensus on

how to apply intersectionality as a method (Luft & Ward, 2009; Bilge, 2013; Nash, 2017). One common critique of intersectionality is its potential application which either treats metrics of one's identity as fixed and their intersections as separable (Mehrotra, 2010), or dissolves and deconstructs social categories altogether (McCall, 2005). The pitfall for the former application of intersectionality is it can be used too prescriptively, while the latter has limited capacity to conceptualize the lived experiences of individuals, for whom the effects of social categories that compose their identities shape their lived experiences (Dill & Zambrana, 2009; Nash, 2017).

There is also the temptation, as Harris & Patton (2019) notes, among education scholars to use intersectionality as an "ornamental buzzword to express their familiarity with (the popularity of the) theory" (p.359). An intersectional approach that is mindful of such limitations is layered: It considers both the existence of social categories on a macro level and how they manifest in individual experiences on a micro level. It further considers the dynamic and fluid nature of intersections as they affect identities and agency (Martinez Dy et al., 2014).

The framework of intersectionality provides a theoretical lens to analyze how different learners and POL perceive and experience GIFSTEM programs. It presents the possibility of the co-existence of privilege and injustice experienced by one individual (Martinez Dy et al., 2014). An intersectionality lens, as Dill & Zambrana (2009) point out, "explores and unpacks relations of domination and subordination, privilege and agency, in the structural arrangements through which various services, resources, and other social rewards are delivered" (p.5). While the specific focus of intersectionality as a theoretical framework can vary significantly depending on the context and discipline (Mirza, 2009; Pei et al., 2021), this research adopts it not as a descriptive formula, but as a grounding orientation (Jiang & Gong, 2019). It utilizes the space that intersectionality opens up which treats different metrics of one's identity as interconnected (Dill & Zambrana, 2009).

This study aims to explore how GIFSTEM initiatives in informal education are perceived and experienced by project leaders and learners. The next chapter explores the methodological considerations to address the three research questions through an intersectional lens.

Chapter 2: Methodology

"Future research [on the STEM gender gaps] needs to delve deeper into these correlations between parameters, adding a comprehensive qualitative dimension to the massive amount of quantitative data already gathered and analysed". (Miller, 2017, p. 54)

This research adds to the existing literature by exploring how learners with cross-cultural backgrounds experience GIFSTEM programs with an intersectional framework. It uses semi-structured online interviews with 13 participants, 5 PLs (past learners), 4 CLs (current learners), and 5 POLs (project organizers/leaders) of GIFSTEM programs (one participant is both a PL and a POL). Following a qualitative approach, and in sensitivity to the feminist traditions from which intersectionality arose, I first explore my subjectivity and positionality as a researcher, and how this has informed the methodological design of this study.

2.1 Subjectivity and Positionality

There is no consensus on what constitutes rigorous qualitative research. Some scholars advocate for the minimization of subjectivity as its defining feature (Merton, 1979; Babbie, 1986; Haase & Myers, 1988). Others argue for qualitative research which does not try to be 'objective', where the researchers instead present their process of interpretation, making visible their positionality (Ammon-Gaberson & Piantanida, 1988; Caretta, 2015; Spencer, 2017).

Epistemologically, I resonate with the argument that objectivity does not equate to neutrality. Even qualitative research which tries to minimize subjectivity is not value-free. They can be underpinned by ideologies that "aspir[e] for objective, universal, and timeless knowledge, the very idea of complex and changing interdependence and co-relations—the very essence of being insofar as there can be any—are not tolerated" (Birhane, 2021, p. 3).

This research is also more aligned with the latter approach which calls for the analysis of the researcher's subjectivity (Caretta, 2015). I acknowledge that my perspectives on the topic are grounded in my experiences and could shape the findings of this research (Somekh, 2006). All learner participants have been exposed to different expectations of various metrics of their identity; multiple sets of "universals" and "truth regimes" (Chakrabarty, 2007, p. 42) that entail different, sometimes conflicting, expectations of being a 'girl' or 'woman' (Butler,

1990). For example, in South Korea, organizations related to gender equality often have to strategically pivot and alter their projects to avoid anti-feminist backlashes that can sometimes be violent (Kim, 2017). But in the context of the US, particularly at the height of "Facebook feminism" (Faludi, 2013, p. 1) individual women are encouraged to step up and "lean in" (Sandberg, 2013, p. 10). Due to these contextual differences, I am cautious about how participants' demographic information (e.g. religion, disability) is represented in this paper. Participants are presented with the option to review and edit these information in the analysis stage.

I am aware of the contextual nature of intersectionality (Crenshaw, 1991; Olive et al., 2015) that comes with growing up cross-culturally and trans-nationally from my personal experiences (Choi et al., 2012). I, therefore, resonate with my participants in the confusion and at times, frustrations, that come with navigating between sets of different intersectional identities depending on the context. I am cautious about projecting my world views onto the experiences of my participants. I might have a different definition of gender from my participants, shaped by the universals I've been exposed to. I try not to impose my truth regimes onto their accounts and experiences. I also embrace the subjectivity I, like any researcher, bring to the analysis process. The findings I present are what I believe to be the most noteworthy. While I acknowledge that the rich data from this research can be analyzed through many different perspectives, I hope to make the process of my interpretation and analysis visible to you, the reader, through constant reflections of subjectivity and positionality (Eisner, 1992).

2.2 Research Design

2.2.1 Procedure

This research adopts an intersectional lens, as Olive et al. (2015) outline, which has the following characteristics:

- 1. Centres the lived experiences of individuals.
- 2. Complicates identity and examines both individual and group identities.
- 3. Explores identity salience as influenced by systems of power and privilege.
- 4. Advances a larger goal of promoting social justice and social change (p. 2).

An intersectional framework lends itself naturally to the aim of the study, exploring the experiences and perceptions of learners and project leaders of GIFSTEM organizations in a range of geographical settings. Semi-structured online individual interviews are conducted

with learners and project organizers. In total, 13 participated, out of which 5 are PL (past learners), 5 are POL (project organizers/leaders), and 4 are CL (current learners). One participant is both a PL and a POL, leaving the total number of participants at 13 instead of 14. All learners are young women who are currently pursuing an undergraduate STEM degree or have recently graduated with one in the past year. They all have cross-cultural and trans-national educational experiences. All learner participants are above 18.

A document containing detailed information about the research and a written consent section was sent to participants before the interviews (see Appendix C). At the beginning of the interview, verbal consent from participants to record is given. Roughly following the interview schedule (see Appendix A), each interview lasts for approximately 30min, the longest at 42min and the shortest at 24min. They are audio-recorded and fully transcribed by the researcher. All data are stored locally on the researcher's computer. The process of interpretation follows the blueprint of thematic analysis outlined by (Terry et al., 2017). After findings have been generated, participants are presented with the option to review and edit writings about them through a document which includes the corresponding row of participant overview (see Table 1, 2 and 3 in Section 2.3), direct quotes if applicable and their contexts.

2.2.2 Reflections

Direct questions about participants' socio-economic backgrounds were not asked due to concerns of trust breaching between the researcher and the participant (Eide & Allen, 2005). It can nevertheless be inferred, based on participants' self-introductions and initial exposure to STEM, that not all of them come from middle-to-upper class families in high-income countries. While some learner participants are socio-economically disadvantaged, all of them have received higher education at American Gulf University (AGU), an elite institution that is structurally Western (See section 2.3.1 for more details). An intersectional lens is useful because it addresses how systems of privileges and underrepresentation can manifest in the lived realities of one individual (Crenshaw, 2019). It opens up the space for nuances in learners' experiences, where the different metrics that shape one's identity are dynamic and contextualized, and social privileges and disadvantages coincide (Martinez Dy et al., 2014).

It is also evident to me, from my interviews, that all learner participants have thought extensively about how the unique individual mapping of their identity influences their experiences of GIFSTEM programs. Individual qualitative interviews are valuable because

they illustrate the multiplicities of learners' perceptions, depending on their intersectional identities, of GIFSTEM programs, which fundamentally highlight 'gender' as the defining feature of an individual. As Convertino (2020) points out, personal accounts of learners of GIFSTEM programs provide much-needed nuances in the landscape of GIFSTEM literature which illustrate that learners' experiences "cannot be collapsed into a single, monolithic meta-narrative" (604). It is therefore fitting to analyze and cross-compare their accounts through qualitative interviews from an intersectional perspective. The participants, both learners and project leaders, do not need me to project their voices. By inviting participants to edit how they are presented, their quotes and how they are analysed, this research tries to maintain the "partnership" between the participant and the researcher in "telling the story of the data" (Goldberg & Allen, 2015, p. 14).

2.3 Sampling

As outlined in the previous chapter, there are four main gaps in current GIFSTEM literature: the need for more qualitative evidence, geographical breadth, voices of project organizers, and an approach that accounts for the nuanced experiences of different women of GIFSTEM organizations (Cohoon, 2002; Dee et al., 2009; Niler et al., 2019; Kemp et al., 2020). Grounded by an intersectional lens, this research utilizes qualitative methods to investigate how learners and POLs experience and organize GIFSTEM programs in a range of geographical contexts.

With the spirit of resonance, defined by Tracy (2010) as "meaningfully reverberate and affect an audience" (p. 844), this study presents personal accounts by learners and program organizers as situated knowledge which enables the readers to engage in processes of transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) and naturalistic generalization (Stake & Trumbull, 1982).

2.3.1 Sampling of Learner Participants

All learner participants are recent alumni or current undergraduate students at AGU (American Gulf University). As the name suggests, AGU is a portal campus of an American university in a Gulf country. With abundant funding, AGU offers generous scholarships that cover relevant school and living fees, with many additional grants to support student's research and career needs on an individual basis. Roughly following a liberal arts education model (Pascarella et al., 2005), AGU also offers funded study abroad opportunities for

students at partner universities in a range of geographical contexts. This is how some learner participants were involved in more than 1 GIFSTEM program in locations other than their home country and the Gulf country. The generous financial support and opportunities attract a diverse student body, in which over 50% of students come from LMICs (Low-or Middle-Income Countries). More than a quarter of students at AGU are first-generation college students.

All learner participants satisfy two criteria: (1) They are currently pursuing, or recently graduated with, a STEM undergraduate degree at AGU. (2) They have participated in GIFSTEM organizations in addition to their formal STEM education.

Non-probability purposive sampling (Etikan et al., 2015) was used to recruit learner participants. The technique allows the researcher to select relevant sites such as organizations and people by "establishing criteria concerning the kinds of cases needed to address the research questions" (Bryman, 2016, p. 422).

Additionally, a snowball sampling strategy (Patton, 1990) was used in the later stages of the interview process, in which "the researcher accesses informants through the contact information that is provided by other informants" (Noy, 2008, p. 330). It can be an effective method of participant recruitment (Goodman, 1961). Individuals who meet the selection criteria and are interested in participating in the study were personally referred to the researcher by previous participants. While all participants fall under the umbrella term 'women in STEM' (Ahuja, 2002), it is necessary to note that a significant amount of inner variation exists among participants, both in terms of the specific discipline(s) of their undergraduate degree, as well as their cross-cultural backgrounds. This reaffirms the observation made by Vitores & Gil-Juárez (2016) that 'women in STEM' is a broad social category with complex inner differentiation.

All learner participants have lived and studied trans-nationally and cross-culturally. This means two things: (1) They are accustomed to education spaces rooted in but transcending the bounds of any single nation-state (Mahler & Pessar, 2001). (2) They have experienced different presentations of gender (Butler, 1990). There is room to explore whether their expectations and experiences of different GIFSTEM programs in different contexts differ due to the dependency of metrics of intersectionality on specific spatial contexts (Valentine, 2007). For example, 'race', a social category critical for an individual's identity in the UK, might not apply in the context of India, where 'caste' would be a more relevant identity metric (Haq, 2013). For an Indian female student studying in the UK, in addition to the metrics outlined by the two societies, they would also take on additional social

categories (e.g. immigration status) that also shape their experiences (Jang, 2018; Mirza, 2013). Using qualitative research methods in conjunction with an intersectional approach has the advantage to present the nuances in how different trans-national and cross-cultural learners perceive GIFSTEM programs they have participated in. As Jang (2018) describes, this methodology leaves space for the researcher to "thoroughly explore the meaning of students' multiple and less visible social constructs by actually talking with students about their identities" (1272).

Table 1 and Table 2 outline information about PL (past learner) and CL (current learner) participants of this research.

TABLE 1. Overview Of PL (Past Learner) Participants and Their Contexts

Pseudonym	Bachelor's degree(s)	Cross-cultural	Current Status	Current
	Obtained	Educational		Location(s)
		Experiences		
Vaneet	Interactive Digital	U.S. Hong Kong, A	Data visualization	U.S.
	Media and Gu		journalist at a media	
	Computer Science,	country name	company	
	minor in Design	removed for		
		anonymity)		
Seo-Yeon	Electrical	South Korea, A Gulf	Engineer at a big Tech;	South Korea
	Engineering	Country	Incoming Computer	
			Science Master's student	
		at a top America		
			university	
Inaya	Computer Science	Sri Lanka, A Gulf	Product Manager at a	A Gulf
		Country	Tech company	Country
Laila	Laila Electrical Canada		First-year Electrical	U.S.
	Engineering and	Gulf Country, U.S.	Engineering PhD student	
	Computer Science		at a top American	
			university	
Aubree	Computer Science	Ghana, A Gulf	Software Engineer at a big	Canada
		Country	Tech	

TABLE 2. Overview Of CL (Current Learner) Participants and Their Contexts

Pseudonym	Year	Current	Cross-cultural	Educational/Professional	Current
		Bachelor's	Educational	Aspirations	Location(s)
		Degree in	Experiences		
		Progress			
Marta	1	Economics and	Hungary, A	Entrepreneurship	A Gulf
		maybe also	Gulf Country		Country
		Computer			
		Science			
Shinar	3	Interactive	Kazakhstan, A	Not sure, but something	U.K.
		Digital	Gulf Country	related to Tech	
		Media/Math,			
		minor in			
		computer			
		engineering			
Zabreen	3	Computer	A Gulf Country	Industry (Software	A Gulf
		Science		Engineer/Data Analyst), or	Country
				PhD.	
Valini	2	Social Science	U.S., A Gulf	Not sure, but maybe	Ghana
		and maybe also	Country	quantitative social science	
		Computer		research	
		Science			

2.3.2 Sampling of Project Leaders

Similar to the recruitment methods of learner participants, non-probability purposive sampling was adopted in the beginning stages of this research. The researcher outlined a list of GIFSTEM organizations that meet one of the selection criteria: (a) Operates outside of North America or Western Europe. (b) Specifically includes non-binary learners in the mission statement. After sending outreach emails to eight organizations with no response, I pivoted into snowball sampling, I was able to successfully contact 5 POLs through referral emails by people in my network who have partnered with GIFSTEM organizations due to their work in Tech.

In the beginning stages of communicating with POLs, I also tried to explore possibilities of connecting with their learners. However, the recruitment process was unfruitful because of, POLs' privacy concerns for learners. This made me pivot to recruiting learners specifically from AGU who have participated in GIFSTEM organizations.

2.3.2.1 Participant Anonymization

I would also note that while in qualitative research, anonymization is treated as a default position for ethical reasons, in which "the researcher withholds the withhold the real names and locations of the settings and participants they study" (Nespor, 2000, p. 547), this assumption was challenged during my interviews.

The operating locations of GIFSTEM organizations are identified on a country level to create specific knowledge that does not treat regions as one homogenous entity (Heasley, 2021). The experiences of POL in organizing GIFSTEM programs are contextual, and I do not want to imply that one initiative's journey is representative of others in the region. However, one POL participant specifically asked to remove such specificity because of anonymity: Their organization is the only GIFSTEM program in the country. Another organization specifically asked not to be anonymized, perhaps because they are one of the few GIFSTEM programs specifically targeting non-binary coders.

These experiences reaffirm that researchers cannot take conventions established in academia for granted (Bouchard, 2016). Co-construction of knowledge with participants relies on a certain sense of flexibility (Nespor, 2000) by the researcher in the process of qualitative research. Table 3 presents an overview of POL participants.

TABLE 3. Overview Of POL (project leader and organizer) Participants and Operational Contexts of Their Affiliated GIFSTEM Organization(s)

Pseudonym	Pronouns	Affiliated Organization(s) (Pseudonym)	Role(s)	Operating Locations
Alicia	She/her	SheWhoCodes; MatchTech	Founding board member; Co- Founder	Switzerland
Seo-Yeon	She/her	SheWhoCodes	Founding board member	South Korea
Margareta	She/they	ChickTech (not anonymized per request by the organization)	National Programming Manager	U.S (with global expansion plans)
Ren	She/her	Tech Women in Dubai	Co-Founder	Dubai (U.A.E.)
Chris	He/him	Dot to Line	Advisor	East Asia (exact location removed for anonymization per request by the organization)

2.4 Data Gathering

Interviews are commonly described as an effective way in educational research to "delve deeper into the reasons behind student attitudes and to probe them with a depth and breadth not possible in quantitative surveys" (Choy, 2014, p. 103). Given the aim of this study, which is to explore the perceptions and experiences of different learners and project organizers of GIFSTEM programs in a range of geographical settings, the interview method is an appropriate choice.

Data was collected through individual online semi-structured interviews that lasted between 24 min and 42 min. Semi-structured interviews have the strength of connection building between the researcher and the participant in eliciting data centred on personal narratives (Galletta, 2013). The method has been commonly adopted by previous research on evaluations of informal educational GIFSTEM programs (Maric, 2018; Rushton & King, 2020; Convertino, 2020).

Due to logistical difficulties (e.g. travel restrictions, the wide-ranging contexts), online interviews were conducted for the flexibility of both the interview location and time (Deakin & Wakefield, 2014). O'Connor et al. (2008) comment on the benefit of online interviews which mitigates distances and costs associated with travelling for in-person interviews. Online interviews could facilitate responses that are more reflexive and socially desirable than more traditional interview methods (Denscombe, 2010; Cabaroglu et al., 2010).

Online interviews also give participants the option to withdraw from the study at any point in the process by clicking a button (Janghorban et al., 2014). This did happen during one POL interview (not included in Table 3 and data from this interview is discarded). The POL, 15min into our call, commented that he did not feel comfortable speaking on behalf of the organization and exited the Teams meeting.

Some challenges come with online interviews. For instance, the method requires stable internet access for all parties, which could be problematic when conducting research with marginalized participants (Hay-Gibson, 2009). This drawback did not impact the data gathering of this research, as all participants have a device with consistent internet. An additional drawback of online interviews is participants might feel uncomfortable being filmed (Deakin & Wakefield, 2014). To mitigate this, the document sent to participants before the interview informs them that only the audio files of recordings would be used.

Additionally, participants were asked for verbal consent for recording at the beginning of each interview and given the option to switch off their cameras.

The interview stage of this study has two phases. In the first week of May, I interviewed two PL participants. The recordings were subsequently transcribed, coded, and analyzed. This is to check if any unexpected themes emerge during actual interviews. The themes from those two interviews did map on to research questions, and therefore it was unnecessary to change the interview questions. The first stage of online interviews was also helpful in developing 'small chats' to develop a sense of familiarity and trust between the researcher and the participant (Bignold & Su, 2013) before rolling out the interview questions. The two initial interviews were beneficial in my decision to have a 3-5min conversation with participants on questions not related to this research to develop a personal connection in a relaxed virtual atmosphere (Deakin & Wakefield, 2014). This was also an opportunity to gauge a sense of participants' educational and cultural backgrounds. The second round of interviews with the remaining 11 participants was conducted between mid-May to mid-June.

For each interview, the researcher asked questions in the following areas (full interview schedule in Appendix A):

- 1. The structure of GIFSTEM program(s) the participant is involved in, either as a learner or organizer this is to contextualize which strategies the program adopts, mapping onto the 3 common strategies of GIFSTEM programs outlined in Section 1.3.
- 2. Motivations for joining/working for the program this is to evaluate participants' expectations for the program.
- 3. Impact of the program for learners, this is to gauge to what extent they feel their expectations are met (PL) /are being met (CL). For POL, this explores the internal mechanisms of their organization in outcome measurement.
- 4. The contrast between participating in the program and experiences of formal education/industry (if any): This is mainly targeted at learners to understand how they feel their gender is being perceived differently, if at all, within and out of the program.
- 5. Considerations when designing program structures and relationships with commercial partners. This is mainly targeted at POL in exploring how GIFSTEM organizations navigate conditions of their specific operational contexts, as well as increasing interests from the public and private sectors in the field (See Section 1.2).

While there is an interview schedule, it is adapted to fit each participant. Depending on the interview, the researcher asks slightly different questions that all fit into the five question themes. The interviews were not entirely naturalistic and unstructured (Madill, 2011), but rather there is flexibility in accommodating participants' preferences. This is also aligned with the nature of semi-structured interviews, during which, as Brown & Danaher (2019) describe:

The interviewer has prepared a list of topics to be explored, and questions to be asked... but also ensures that the questions elicit open responses by the participants that enable lines of conversation to be developed in ways that could not have been anticipated when the interview schedule was being planned. (p.77)

I am fortunate to have participants who are passionate about sharing their experiences. When they are sharing their reflections and thoughts, I choose not to disrupt their flow but rather raise follow-up questions to engage in the co-construction of reality by the participant and the researcher, based on their individual experiences participating and organizing GIFSTEM programs (Bignold & Su, 2013).

2.5 Analysis

All interviews were conducted, audio-recorded, transcribed, coded, and analyzed by the researcher. Each transcription is reviewed with its audio file and annotated at least three times. The process of thematic analysis loosely follows the 6-step framework outlined by (Terry et al., 2017).

While CAQDAS are helpful tools for the researcher to manage data in the coding process, the choice between manual and electronic analysis is individual. As Basit (2003) points out, the preference could be determined based on "the size of the project, the funds and time available and the inclination and expertise of the researcher" (p. 152).

CAQDAS such as NVivo and Leximancer have the limitation of potentially decontextualizing data and losing non-verbal cues (Rettie et al., 2008). I choose not to conduct qualitative content analysis through CAQDAS for two reasons. The major advantage of such tools is to assist researchers in processing and analyzing large quantities of data (Sotiriadou et al., 2014; Saldana, 2015). The relatively small sample of this research means

that the benefit would not be felt, but the researcher still needs to spend a significant amount of time learning and choosing between different qualitative data analysis software (Dollah et al., 2017). Denscombe (2010) notes that while CAQDAS can assist the researcher in organizing and storing data more automatically, "basic word processing software such as MS Word" can be equally useful in the analysis process of small-scale qualitative research (p.329). I find the colour-coding and text adjustment options of more traditional software, not specifically designed for qualitative data analysis, to be more suitable.

In the context of this research, 'manual' coding is not necessarily using physical artefacts such as note cards and cut-and-paste (Basit, 2003). Microsoft Word and OneNote, access provided by the University of Oxford, were used for qualitative data analysis. On my local computer, I create a folder for each participant with four files: the audio recording of the interview, the original transcript, the coded transcript, and emerging themes. In my OneDrive, I create a OneNote section group that entails all the themes of each interview, sorted by their categories (e.g. PL, CL, POL). After separate and individual analysis of each interview, initial themes are combined, edited, and refined to construct the findings of this research.

2.6 Ethical Considerations

This research is underlined by the BERA Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research. It also received approval from the Education Departmental Research Ethics Committee (DREC) under CUREC reference number CIA-22HT-047 (Appendix B). While I find it ethically ambiguous to directly ask participants for their demographic information, each participant is asked to introduce themselves at the beginning of the interview.

I did not contact individual learner participants only because of their gender in the spirit of non-essentialization (Berg & Lie, 1995). The 'outness' associated with participating and affirming one's pronouns (Goodrich et al., 2016; Staples et al., 2018; McCann et al., 2021) is possibly one of the reasons why all learner participants in our study identify as cisgender. It does happen to be that one of the POL participants adopts the non-binary pronouns (they/them) as well as the pronouns she/her.

All participants signed a written informed consent form (Appendix C). At the beginning of each interview, participants also gave additional verbal consent to being audio-recorded, and the recording to be transcribed and analyzed. To protect anonymity,

identifiable information of participants, including names, universities, and affiliated organizations, has been unidentified as per CUREC.

2.6.1 Data Presentation: Vignettes and Opening Quotes in Reporting Findings

In answering RQ1³(see Section 3.1), findings are presented through the vignette technique. Vignettes, defined by Hughes (1998) as "stories about individuals, situations and structures which can make reference to important points in the study of perceptions, beliefs and attitudes" (p. 384), can be particularly useful in qualitative research (Miles, 1990; Rizvi, 2019; Skilling & Stylianides, 2020). The major limitation of the method is when being used in isolation (Faia, 1980; Hughes, 1998). This study, however, combines vignettes with semi-structured interviews.

After presenting the most fitting vignettes of three themes for RQ1, direct quotes are used to open findings on RQ2⁴ and RQ3⁵ (See Sections 3.2 and 3.3). Direct quotes effectively highlight the themes being presented (Hays & McKibben, 2021). Gioia (2021) also notes that participants' quotes have the benefit of "not only giving voice to informants, [but] also sending a strong message to readers: I am reporting what informants told us, in their own words" (p.26). The combination of opening each section of findings with either a vignette or a direct block quote aligns with the intersectional framework of this research. They capture the multiple facets of individual experiences of specific situations in participants' own words (Barter & Renold, 2000; Shields, 2008; Gioia 2021).

2.7 Mitigating Limitations and Room for Future Research

There are several limitations to this study. The interactions during the interview are co-constructed by my participants and me (Guba & Lincoln, 2000). Findings of this research are therefore accumulated and shaped by our positionalities and subjectivities. Through "seeking sites of commonality across difference" (Cole, 2009, p. 175), I acknowledge that the knowledge generated from our interactions is influenced by the specific contexts of my participants' lived realities (Olive et al., 2015). Although this study fills in a gap in existing GIFSTEM literature through qualitative accounts of learners' and project leaders' experiences

³ What are the benefits of GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) programs perceived by different learners?

⁴ What are the barriers learners feel like they face when considering STEM-related professions/postgraduate studies, and to what extent are they mitigated by GIFSTEM programs?

⁵ What are the (a) aspirations of (b) challenges for different GIFSTEM organizations?

in a range of geographical settings, 13 participants is nevertheless a small sample size. More research is needed to investigate the extent to which the findings of this study apply to both GIFSTEM organizations in different locations, as well as the experiences of different learners.

Several scholars have already pointed out that while GIFSTEM literature often uses the term 'gender inclusion', often only specific groups of cis-women are included (Vitores & Gil-Juárez, 2016; Fisher & Jenson, 2017; Heasley, 2021). This research initially tried to fill in this gap by including accounts from non-binary and womxn learners, as well as from POLs of GIFSTEM programs that specifically operate beyond the gender binary. However, after 2 months of outreach, only 1 response (from ChickTech) was received. While I try to frame the research and interview question, as well as the overall framework, to not assume the gender binary, more study is needed to specifically assess the experiences of learners of marginalized genders in GIFSTEM programs.

In the initial design stages of the methodology, focus group interviews were also considered for discussion facilitation (Dilshad & Latif, 2013). However, as the interview progressed, data from individual interviews was so rich that it was no longer necessary. It was also logistically not feasible due to time constraints. Future research could utilize a combined approach of both individual and focus group interviews to observe whether different themes emerge (Lambert & Loiselle, 2008).

The findings of this research, while broadening the currently U.S.- focus in literature, are by no means representative of all women coders' experiences in GIFSTEM programs from these regions, countries, or even cities. More future research that employs a diverse range of qualitative methods is needed in evaluating the perceptions of participants with different intersectional identities in a range of spatial contexts (Ireland et al., 2018). The accounts I present are personal to the lived experiences of my participants. Yet there are overlapping themes in their responses, which potentially address the gaps in the literature presented in Section 1.4. I will dive deeper into these findings in the next chapter.

Chapter 3: Findings

This chapter presents findings in two parts. It first explores learners' experiences participating in GIFSTEM organizations, both in their benefits and relationships to learners' perceived barriers in entering and remaining in STEM professions and postgraduate education. The vignette method is used as a section opener for RQ1 findings in presenting multi-faceted individual experiences. Then, project organizers' and leaders' accounts of their organizations' aspirations, evaluations, and challenges are presented. Findings on RQ2 and RQ3 are opened with direct quotes that capture the essence of the theme discussed.

RQ1: What are the benefits of GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) programs perceived by different learners?

3.1.1 Community

Marta is a first-year AGU (American Gulf University) student deciding between majoring in Economics or CS (Computer Science). Living in Hungary until university, Marta started joining GIFSTEM programs because she wanted to learn coding with a community. She began her CS journey with a two-week virtual web development course the summer before university. Having enjoyed the experience, Marta kept exploring the field through introductory classes and attending YesSTEM [GIFSTEM student organization on campus] events. She realized learning CS through formal education is not for her, and instead wanted other ways to continue developing coding skills. Marta feels supported by the YesSTEM community in learning resources and connections. She is also doing a summer internship with FunCode (pseudonym), a startup founded by AGU and YesSTEM alumni that uses interactive methods to engage young girls in coding. Marta wants to keep learning CS at her own pace with other peers at YesSTEM. Her career goal is to be at the intersection of Finance and CS with a start-up of her own.

Like Marta, five other learner participants initially joined GIFSTEM programs for a supportive community. Beyer et al. (2004) found a high sense of social isolation among 567 first-year women university students who had taken a CS course in the U.S.. As Cohoon (2002) points out, support from peers of the same gender is essential for the retainment of

women students in CS. Cohoon (2001) also found that CS departments with a roughly equal gender ratio all have enough numbers of female students in each class for same-sex support. While departmental change on gender inclusion can sometimes be a long-term administrative process (Alvarado & Dodds, 2010).

GIFSTEM programs have the advantage of providing informal learning communities outside of classrooms (McPherson, 2014) as spaces for same-gender peer socialization and support that encourage learners to pursue education and careers in STEM disciplines (Wang et al., 2012). The community benefit is critical considering the male-dominated reality of most STEM classes. Petrucci (2020) observes that gender-inclusive meetup groups provide training, mentorship and support that are pivotal for individuals of underrepresented genders to remain and succeed in the Technology sector.

Such findings are reaffirmed by participants' contrasting experiences between STEM learning in GIFSTEM programs and that in their formal education. Inaya, a CS graduate who is now a product manager at a fast-growing Tech start-up, reflects feeling intimidated and insecure when she first started university. While having taken many Math classes in high school back home in Sri Lanka, Inaya did not start learning CS until university:

I wrote my first line of code in college... I had no prior experience... YesSTEM gave me a good support group with others, especially women, who have similar struggles. It just created a good bond because I think Tech is skewed more towards males than females. (Inaya, PL)

The need for a community is also echoed by Shinar, a rising fourth-year student majoring in Interactive Digital Media and minoring in Computer Engineering. Having gone to a STEM high school in Kazakhstan, Shinar knew she wanted to bond with other STEM peers at AGU: "In college, I wanted to connect to more people who shared my background and struggles in the field". In addition to YesSTEM, Shinar is also involved in the Facebook group 'Women Rewriting the Code', two other gender inclusion mentorship programs with a 'Big Tech' and a leading investment banking company, and the AGU alumni start-up

⁶ Shinar has a speech disability which mainly results in stuttering. For the flow of text, the stuttering in Shinar's quotes is edited out but nevertheless indicated with an underline. This preference is made by the participant.

⁷ A name given to the largest U.S. companies in the information technology industry (Financial Times, 2018).

FunCode (pseudonym). Through participating in a wide range of GIFSTEM programs, Shinar hopes to find communities that correspond to different metrics of her identity:

The main goal for me is to connect to people, share our experiences, empower each other, and find support in our individual ways... I didn't know where my identity was, at the intersection of these two strands [of being a woman and a person with a disability]. They [GIFSTEM programs] were really helpful for me in finding my own voice. (Shinar, CL)

These accounts resonate with previous scholars' findings on the significance of a supportive and welcoming space, providing assurance and affirmation for different underrepresented groups in STEM (Farinde & Lewis, 2012; Cross et al., 2020; Zheng & Walsham, 2021). One benefit of GIFSTEM programs is the same-sex community for women STEM students (Cohoon, 2001; Petrucci, 2020) that help them navigate and integrate different aspects of their identity into their learning and working environments (Martinez Dy et al., 2014).

3.1.2 Networking-Mentoring

Aubree, having moved to AGU from Ghana, accidentally became a CS major after stumbling upon an introductory CS class. After graduation, she became a software engineer at a Big Tech company in Canada. Aubree only started participating in GIFSTEM programs in her third year. She mainly wanted to access professional development resources that she felt her formal CS curriculum lacked, in addition to connecting with others also experiencing the Tech recruitment processes. For Aubree, groups such as YesSTEM and GIFSTEM conferences were crucial in gaining information, such as preparation tips for interviews at different Tech companies, through meeting new peers. She decided to join an established Tech company because of visa sponsorships and their structural professional developments for new hires. Having heard "horror stories" of some women software engineers' working experiences, Aubree worried about collogues not giving her the space and trust to perform. Luckily, her current manager, also a woman, has been nothing but

supportive. Aubree thoroughly enjoys her current work and jokes that her manager looks after her even more than she does for herself.

Scholars have argued that women STEM learners' sense of belonging in the field is correlated with seeing role models of the same gender (e.g. Lockwood, 2006; Stout et al., 2011; Mattheis, 2018). Aubree, initially joining GIFSTEM programs for networking, expresses feeling another benefit of GIFSTEM programs. She recalls feeling more confident about starting a Tech career after meeting different women, particularly women leaders, in STEM-related industries at the U.S. GHC (Grace Hopper Celebration) conference⁸:

This person. started as a student like I did. is now the director or senior engineer [of a multi-national company]. That was really inspiring for me, knowing that I'm not the only one going through the process [of gradually building a Tech career]. (Aubree, PL)

Aubree is not alone in benefiting from the networks and opportunities to hear success stories of women industry leaders through participating in GIFSTEM programs. Zabreen, a current third-year CS major, is also involved in various GIFSTEM conferences. She feels particularly encouraged when meeting successful women in the industry, particularly if they also wear the hijab: "These incredible speakers [at conferences] are very, very inspirational... There was also a hijabi woman, which I really like because I could connect with her at a different level". After actively participating in YesSTEM for two years, Zabreen is also now a board member of the organization: "The network is incredible. As I'm organizing all these panels, I reach out to other women, alumni who have done incredible things, who share their achievements and journeys."

Zabreen's experiences illustrate how GIFSTEM programs provide opportunities where learners can also be organizers of events. This is a feature central to what Swoboda & Millar (1986) term 'networking-mentoring'. As the name suggests, it encompasses elements of a network (e.g. nonheretical connections) and the process of mentoring (e.g. an industry professional sharing her career trajectory and tips). At the heart of networking-mentoring is the dynamic nature of one's role: A member of the group, who sometimes is a mentor to

40

⁸ GHC (Grace Hopper Celebration) is the one of the biggest gatherings for women in computing (GHC, 2019). It mainly operates within the U.S., but have also expanded to other regions with programming such as the EMENA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa) conference (GHC, 2022).

others, can also learn and benefit from the network (e.g. timely updates on the latest Tech start-up trends) (Haring, 1999). Networking-mentoring in GIFSTEM organizations is evident in two ways: Between student members and external collaborators (e.g. speakers who are industry experts), as seen in Zabreen and Aubree's experiences. It also occurs internally, both among participants of different school years and between current and past participants of the program.

Through building a network, learners also have opportunities to shape the programming of the GIFSTEM organizations they participate in (Haring-Hidore, 1987). Several learners are themselves GIFSTEM project organisers. Zabreen speaks about feeling motivated to organize YesSTEM events after being a consistent participant:

I know this is cliche, but [I'm staying on the YesSTEM board] to make an impact and help other women in Tech who are being affected because of the lack of representation [of different women in STEM]... I was hearing so many stories about freshman girls in CS dropping their major because they were really intimidated by their classes, professors, and male colleagues. It really broke my heart. (Zabreen, CL)

This sentiment is also echoed by Seo-yeon, an AGU graduate who is now on the board of the South Korean branch of SheWhoCodes (pseudonym), a global GIFT (gender inclusion for Tech) organization:

Just getting along with them [SheWhoCodes South Korea members], hearing news through them about the tech industry here in Korea and other global networks is very inspiring... I'm trying to be at the heart of women empowerment in Tech⁹... We show girls that there are successful women leaders [in Tech]. We're trying to empower women so they can also become industry leaders. (Seo-yeon, PL and POL)

⁹ There has been increasing discourse on the (sometimes inconsistent) application of 'women empowerment' in STEM and ICT (information and communications technologies) sectors (e.g. Santillan-Rosas & Heredia-Escorza, 2020; Mackey & Petrucka, 2021.). While it is beyond the scope of this research to discuss this debate in details, it could be an important angle for future studies that evaluate GIFSTEM initiatives.

Data from PL and CL interviews suggests that GIFSTEM programs enhance learners' sense of confidence in entering and remaining in STEM (Ahuja, 2002). GIFSTEM organizations, therefore, also have the benefit of networking-mentoring, resulting in opportunities for learners to (a) connect with established women in STEM-related fields that resemble different aspects of their identities, (b) become program organizers, and (c) act as role models for other underclassmen women STEM learners.

3.1.3 The Unexpected Benefit: Possibilities of Different STEM Paths

Vaneet, self-described as "culturally confused", started participating in GIFSTEM programs in high school with an all-girls robotics team. During her studies at home, the U.S., and in Hong Kong, Vaneet also organized outreach programs for other youths interested in STEM. She continued her engagement in GIFSTEM initiatives at AGU, receiving various grants for different competitive programs. Vaneet also was one of the board members for YesSTEM, leading various community outreach programs to engage middle and high school students of all genders in STEM. Despite an impressive CV, Vaneet often felt like a "fraud", not entirely confident in her coding abilities. Two things helped her navigate the imposter syndrome: the community of women in STEM at AGU, and the discovery of data visualization, her current passion and career path. Vaneet reflects that she discovered this field through events of different GIFSTEM programs rather than her formal CS education.

Like Vaneet, six learner participants mention a broadened understanding of different education and career paths in STEM to be one of their biggest takeaways from GIFSTEM initiatives. This supports literature findings on the importance of informal educational GIFSTEM programs in providing learners with room to explore various avenues of STEM disciplines (Dorsen et al., 2006; Nugent et al., 2015; Dou et al., 2019). Additionally, while a range of STEM fields emerge when participants speak about pursuing postgraduate studies after AGU, possible careers tend to focus on the Tech field, regardless of their undergraduate major(s). This is likely due to the rapid expansions of different technologies in a wide array of industries, resulting in changes in the fundamental nature of work (Pereira & Romero, 2017). All learner participants of this study are currently, or express interests in, pursuing, postgraduate and professional opportunities in different HICs. This aligns with data on the

increased cross-border and employment-based migration, particularly from LMICs to HICs, in the past 50 years (Manyika, 2017).

Discussions on the changing nature of work perhaps also explain why learners find GIFSTEM programs so beneficial in helping them understand possible STEM education and career paths (Gagnon & Sandoval, 2020). This contribution, compared to the benefits of community and networking-mentoring, is much less discussed in GIFSTEM literature (Eccles, 2011; Solanki & Xu, 2018; Sinclair et al., 2019).

Vaneet, now a data visualization journalist, was considering leaving STEM after graduation until realizing the social impact potential of a Tech career through GIFSTEM programs: "I was feeling a lot of tension about whether I can ethically be in Tech. Our CS program really only showed us the software engineer path." It was through attending different workshops by speakers at various Tech roles that Vaneet began exploring more 'non-conventional' jobs in the industry:

[Through GIFSTEM programs], I was learning that other paths are possible...

That I wasn't a failure if I didn't want to be a software engineer at Amazon.

For the longest time, I kept trying to fit myself into that mould... I felt like I had to prove to my peers that I could do it. But at the same time, I had absolutely no desire to work at Facebook or wherever... I think [one of the benefits of GIFSTEM organizations] is just learning that other paths are possible. (Vaneet, PL)

Several other learner participants also talk about the benefit of GIFSTEM programs in helping them realize paths other than being a 'software engineer at a Big Tech'. Inaya, currently working as a product manager at a Tech company in the Gulf region, says GIFSTEM programs broadened her understanding of different career options:

I think sometimes you're sort of hammered in with this mindset of 'If you graduate with CS, you go into software engineering'. YesSTEM gives space for other women that have taken alternate paths and broadens your thinking [of Tech careers]. Maybe you'll find something that you like doing that you didn't even know existed, which was the case for me. (Inaya, PL)

Laila, who graduated with a double major in EE (Electrical Engineering) and CS, is now a first-year PhD EE student at a prestigious U.S. university. She is also working as a researcher for a 'Big Tech' company. Laila reflects on the lack of departmental information on different Tech careers in her formal STEM education:

I remember attending one of the sessions that the Engineering department held. It wasn't student-led. The department had professors talking about engineering and the options after graduation. Everything that they mentioned seemed so limited.

But because I was talking to people from YesSTEM. I had external resources. It's just realizing that sometimes schools are not up to date with what's actually happening when it comes to Tech... I would tell all the freshmen and sophomores that if you want to figure out what to do in the summers, just talk to people from YesSTEM. (Laila, PL)

These reflections reaffirm findings in Wang & Degol (2013) calling teachings of STEM, both formally and informally, to inform women learners of "the diverse options available in various STEM careers":

Conveying that math and science careers have a beneficial impact on society and involve work with people, may allow math competent females to better equate the utility of these careers with their personal goals and values (p. 27).

GIFSTEM programs, therefore, benefit learners in supplementing their formal education with an expanded understanding of possible STEM educational and professional opportunities.

RQ2: What are the barriers learners feel like they face when considering STEM-related professions/postgraduate studies, and to what extent are they mitigated by GIFSTEM programs?

3.2.1 Heightened Visibility and The Pressure for Excellence

"I feel like the main issues I would face is not being seen for my skills and what I bring to the table, but rather for what I look like and who I am".

(Zabreen, CL)

Zabreen is not alone in her concerns about getting an educational or professional opportunity in STEM only because of certain underrepresented aspects of her identity. Seo-yeon echoes the sentiment. As one of the few women in an engineering team of 60, she is often hyperaware of her gender. "No one makes me conscious about my gender in my work. I just sometimes realize, especially when they [male colleagues] are talking about the military service that I can't relate to... These are moments where I just have to be conscious about my identity".

Seo-yeon reiterates that none of her male colleagues did or said anything, and that "it [being one of the few women at work] doesn't work as a negative for me, but depending on the personality or the situation, it can hugely negatively impact someone's career as a woman".

Such hyper-awareness is compounded when learners embody more than one underrepresented social categories. Laila shares encountering people who are surprised to see a Middle Eastern hijabi woman in her current position:

Sometimes they will be like: "You don't look like someone who is doing a PhD." ... I guess their image of someone doing an EE PhD is not necessarily someone who looks like me. I would say it's already a surprise if a woman is doing an EE PhD. It is even more when you are a woman who also ticks other minority boxes. (Laila, PL)

These accounts reaffirm previous findings on underrepresented groups in STEM experiencing simultaneously hypervisibility and invisibility, making learners feel their credibility is delegitimized because of their minority status (Sandler & Hall 1986; Ahuja,

2002; Wilkins-Yel et al., 2019). Convertino (2020) notes: "In the domain of CS, it is the sign of invisibility or marked visibility of the object (woman) that circumscribes the subject (man) as the regulatory norm" (p. 597).

Several learners speak about their experiences with passive-aggressive comments from their male peers, which also heightens their feelings of hypervisibility and imposter syndromes (Murphy et al., 2018; Allen & Peterman, 2019). Laila notes that many of such comments come from male peers who also have identity metrics (e.g. immigration status) that disadvantage them in STEM education and professions:

One of the things that hurt the most, and this is a thing that I have been hearing a lot, is not necessarily from people within the U.S. but other minorities outside of the U.S. applying for U.S. schools. People will be like, "If you are a multi-minority who is also a woman, you could be less experienced or less qualified for a position, but they would take you just because you fit some diversity boxes." I think [this] is a very harmful narrative because that's definitely not the case. (Laila, PL)

Zabreen also shares how such comments add to her concerns of only being seen for her minority status rather than technical abilities:

I feel like that that mentality [male STEM peers saying that it's easier for women to get competitive jobs] also contributes to my imposter syndrome. I feel like whenever I get a great opportunity, I think to myself "Ohh, they probably just wanted me as a diversity hire", or "They only pay attention to me because they needed a diversity person". So yeah, I feel like that way of thinking is really toxic. (Zabreen, CL)

At the same time, such visibility partially results from the benefit of GIFSTEM organizations in raising awareness of the STEM gender gaps issue. The "in/visibility paradox" (Faulkner, 2009, p.169) is therefore experienced by learners simultaneously. Inaya, for instance, articulates the mixed feelings she has regarding GIFSTEM organizations:

It's positive in the way that I feel like I'm made visible in spaces where I sometimes feel invisible or inadequate. It's not good in the sense that the framing can sometimes be that every woman in Tech is brilliant. There is no space for an average female engineer.

Sometimes it feels like to belong to 'women in Tech', you have to be exceptional, like co-founding multiple start-ups. There is no space for mediocrity. But there are so many average male engineers. There is space for men to just be OK, but I don't think that's the case for women in Tech (Inaya, PL)

Laila echoes feeling this pressure for excellence as a multi-minority in STEM:

It does feel like if you're not excellent, you shouldn't be here because you're a double and triple minority. You're not a person who should be occupying these places, because you are not as 'normal'. So other people can just do their own thing. They can just exist. But then you gotta be excellent... When you feel like you are the picture and the ambassador for everyone else who looks like you. Almost like, if you do not meet this expectation, then you're failing your job. (Laila, PL)

These accounts reaffirm previous research on individual underrepresented women in STEM feeling the pressure to represent their entire social category (Herzig, 2010; Charleston et al., 2014). For instance, Yamaguchi & Burge (2019), examining experiences of black women in computing education and professions in the U.S., notes that "participants expressed the pressure and stress, acknowledging the high standards and stress they put on themselves for excellence, but the stress they feel in representing a whole subgroup" (p.225).

One of the biggest barriers learners feel in remaining and advancing in STEM postgraduate studies and professions is therefore a heightened sense of visibility and its by-product- the pressure for excellence. While GIFSTEM programs can provide communities for different women in STEM, thereby reducing feelings of isolation (Wilkins-Yel et al., 2019), data from this study suggest they do little in removing these tensions individual learners experience.

3.2.2 Included but Excluded: An Intersectional Lens

"We see a lot of programs from top Tech companies trying to support women. But I also see that it's all on the surface level. Yes, they are trying to support us. They have all this programming and mentorship. But are they willing to dig deeper into the main reasons why different kinds of women are not present in STEM?" (Shinar, CL)

GIFSTEM programs have a premise which highlights 'gender' as the defining social category of an individual (Faulkner, 2009; Cheryan & Plaut, 2010). This results in some learners having trouble finding one initiative that addresses their other needs due to their different intersectional identities. Shinar finds herself in limbo when applying for summer internships. As a woman with a speech disability, exploring opportunities in the U.S. and the U.K., Shinar needs accommodation and visa sponsorship from her employer. She shares frustrating situations where, despite the company having gender-targeted programs, her needs are ignored:

I think that the challenge that I've been facing the most is communicating to employers and hiring managers at all stages of the application: "Hey, I am a person with a disability. These are the accommodations that I need. Are you able to provide those for me?" Unfortunately, not a lot of companies and people are willing to go that extra mile. (Shinar, CL)

Zabreen also talks about feeling isolated when attending a GIFSTEM conference in the U.S. which did not consider immigration status in their programming, leaving few opportunities that she can pursue:

The issue is that every recruiter I've met [at the conference] wasn't willing to hire someone without work authorization in the U.S.... I mean it's great that there are these conferences where influential women speak, but there aren't really any job opportunities for people who are not just women, but also women from the Middle East without U.S. work authorization. (Zabreen, CL)

Three other learners also note that many 'international' GIFSTEM programs tend to focus on North America and Western Europe. Aubree, for instance, reflects:

Experiences in North America are different from those in other places, but people [GIFSTEM organizers] talked about it in a homogenous way, not thinking about other people that may not necessarily come from the places that they're thinking. (Aubree, PL)

Zabreen also shares her experiences attending a GIFSTEM conference marketed for the EMENA region, only realizing that most of the programming was focused on the 'E' and little on the 'MENA':

They call it Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Europe is at less than 1/3 of the framing. But most of the speakers were Europeans and they were one or two Middle Eastern and African speakers... I also feel like usually when there's a hijabi woman in the conference, they are more like an afterthought or just included there for diversity purposes... So I was left out of both spaces [the U.S. and the EMENA GIFSTEM conferences]. (Zabreen, CL.

These experiences illustrate the need for GIFSTEM organizations to adopt more intersectional framings. Due to the cultural and context-specific nature of identity, learners could experience feelings of isolation and further marginalization when engaging in GIFSTEM programs that are designed with little consideration for their various identities (Ahuja, 2002). Wang & Degol (2013) observe the importance of more cross-cultural and cross-national comparative studies on gender and STEM education because of the contextual nature of identity.

Learners' accounts echo previous research on the danger of prescriptively applying intersectionality as a theoretical framework in evaluating GIFSTEM initiatives, thereby essentialising certain underrepresented social categories and failing to present the nuanced lived experiences of individuals with such categories (Dill & Zambrana, 2009; Nash, 2017).

Different learners experience GIFSTEM programs differently due to their intersectional identities. There are, nevertheless, common themes in these varied individual perceptions, both in the benefits of such programs and the barriers they feel they face in STEM. How are these initiatives designed and evaluated internally? As Johnson et al. (2020) point out, the program structures and deliveries of GIFSTEM initiatives can also be shaped

by the intersectional identities of their organizers. The next section presents the relationships between five project leaders' lived experiences and their affiliated GIFSTEM organizations.

RQ3: What are the (a) aspirations of (b) challenges for different GIFSTEM organizations?

3.3.1 Goals, Program Strategies, and Impact Measurement of GIFSTEM Programs

It is challenging to implement effective GIFSTEM programs because of the structural contributors to the STEM gender gaps (Ziegler & Stoeger, 2004; Weisgram & Bigler, 2007; Peña et al., 2021). Boehmer & Schinnenburg (2018) outline how contextual gender roles, such as social expectations of mothers being the primary child caregivers, can prevent women from advancing in careers. Petrucci (2020) concludes that while GIFSTEM initiatives such as informal meet-up groups have benefits (e.g. community-building) for individual gender minorities in the field, they might have little effect in disrupting the broader social systems that result in their underrepresentation. Depending on their goals, GIFSTEM organizations adopt distinct program strategies contextualized to their operational contexts with different impact measurement methods (Diekman et al., 2015).

While the overarching goal for GIFSTEM programs is to bridge the STEM gender gaps, their visions can nevertheless vary. The five POL (project organizers and leaders) participants of this research outline the following end goals for their organizations:

- More women entering and remaining in STEM education and careers (G1).
- A 50/50 gender balance in senior leadership positions of all Tech companies (G2).
- A community that provides safe spaces for women in STEM to learn from and with each other(G3).
- Increase women's engagement in STEM subjects and professions for their empowerment or/and financial independence(G4).
- Strong and supportive local networks that connect all marginalized genders in STEM with each other(G5).

These goals, like program strategies, are not self-exclusionary. Several organizations I interviewed utilize different programs to achieve their visions. As discussed in Section 1.3, GIFSTEM programs typically adopt any number of 3 common strategies (Petrucci, 2020):

- Community building and networking-mentorship for women in STEM education and professions (S1).
- Skills training and development in an individual or group setting(S2).
- Alleviation of broader structural issues that manifest in barriers for women to enter and remain in STEM through providing resources to individual women learners and policy advocacy on a social level(S3).

Table 4 below outlines relevant information about five the POL participants and their affiliated organizations.

TABLE 4: Overview of POL Participants and Affiliated Organizations

Pseudonym	Pronouns	Affiliated	Role(s)	Operating	End goal(s)	Programming
		Organization(s)		Locations		Structures
		(Pseudonym)				
Alicia	She/her	SheWhoCodes;	Founding	Switzerland	G1+G3+G4;	S1+S2;
		MatchTech	board member;		G1+G2	S1+S3
			Co-Founder			
Seo-yeon	She/her	SheWhoCodes	Founding	South Korea	G1+G3+G4	S1+S2
			board			
			member			
Margareta	She/they	ChickTech (not	National	U.S (with	G1+G3+G4+G5	S1+S2+S3
		anonymized per	Programming	global		
		request by the	Manager	expansion		
		organization)		plans)		
Ren	She/her	Tech Women in	Co-Founder	Dubai	G1+G3	S1+S2
		Dubai		(U.A.E.)		
Chris	He/him	Dot to Line	Advisor	East Asia	G1+G3+G4	S1+S2+S3
				(exact location		
				removed for		
				anonymization		
				per request by		
				the		
				organization)		

POL interviews show that all five organizations, with different visions, end goals, and programming structures, nevertheless use a combination of quantitative and qualitative data for impact measurement, just with different metrics. Quantitative data in this context is mainly numerical. For instance, changes in the number of participants hired by Tech companies (MatchTech), the percentage of underrepresented demographics in participants (ChickTech), or the retention rate between different programs within the organization (Tech Women in Dubai, SheWhoCodes, Dot to Line). The most common numerical metric used is the number of attendees in each event/program (all five organizations).

Numerical values might provide important insights into organizational growth but are not sufficient indicators for participants' satisfaction alone (Peña et al., 2021). To gauge a more in-depth understanding of changes in learners' sense of belonging in STEM (Wilkins-Yel et al., 2019), GIFSTEM organizations also utilize qualitative methods such as surveys to evaluate their impacts. For instance, ChickTech adopts surveys that measure the differences between a learner's confidence, belonging, and comprehension before and after participation. Dot to Line also runs a before-and-after survey tailored to each program that assesses changes in learners' confidence, technical and soft skills. Having both quantitative and qualitative data help organizations to develop a more comprehensive understanding of their progress (Ciupercă & Stanciu, 2020; Chowdhury et al., 2021; Convertino, 2020).

While several studies on GIFSTEM initiatives include comparisons of program facilitators' understandings of gender inequality as an additional measurement (Ziegler & Stoeger, 2004; Gill et al., 2018; Peña et al., 2021), no POL mentions the training process of staff when speaking about impact measurement of the organization. This is perhaps because no direct question on the topic was asked. It could also be that the GIFSTEM initiatives being evaluated in literature often are a part of a formal STEM curriculum with existing structures that document facilitators' attitudes (Convertino, 2020).

POL accounts also demonstrate the depth and breadth of thinking in organizing GIFSTEM organizations. The internal systems of impact measurement and organizational goals are interconnected with a series of challenges and subsequently, pragmatic considerations. I will outline three themes that emerged from interview data below.

3.3.2 Challenges and Pragmatic Considerations of GIFSTEM Organizations 3.3.2.1 Target Learners

"At the end of the day, we want to serve as many learners but also be as effective as possible. It's a challenge to address everyone's particular needs because we are all individuals with specific needs. We just try to offer [learners] as many resources as possible." (Margareta, POL, ChickTech)

ChickTech, primarily based in the U.S., is one of the few GIFSTEM organizations in the country that actively include learners of different marginalized genders in their mission statement (Heasley, 2021). The organization also plans to expand their influence globally through exchanging resources (e.g. best practices from their experiences) with GIFSTEM programs outside of the U.S.. When asked about potential plans in offering immigration support to non-American participants who want to pursue education and professional opportunities in the U.S., Margareta acknowledged it as a potential future direction.

Recent literature has been calling for a more critical and intersectional lens in the framing of GIFSTEM programs (Hodari et al., 2014; Convertino, 2020; Ceia et al., 2021). As the opening quote by Margareta illustrates, most POL participants are highly aware of the intersectionality of gender, partially stemming from their own experiences. They have all grown up trans-nationally or cross-culturally, with experiences of being underrepresented or feeling marginalized in STEM education and profession.

This includes Chris, the only cis-man identifying POL participant. Now having a successful career as the Engineering Manager at a U.S. 'Big Tech', Chris does not have an academic background in STEM and only started learning to code at 28. As someone who at times feels isolated in the field, Chris has been involved in various GIFT programs for over 10 years after realizing the compounded barriers women in Tech face:

I look at the senior people at, say a FAANG¹⁰ company, there isn't anybody that matches my description. They are all like computer science PhD or like 'I invented the Internet' type of people. No one started coding in their late 20s. I felt unsure whether I can personally succeed in this industry, [this sense of uncertainty] kind of matches the experiences I heard from women in Tech. I can empathize with some of their feelings, but at the same time, I still look the way I do [as a cis-man]. People look at me like: "You're a successful dude".

-

¹⁰ An acronym describing five prominent American technology companies: Facebook(Meta), Amazon, Apple, Netflix, and Google (Hobbs, 2022).

But there are things about me that they might not be able to see. I have a lot of impostor syndrome and insecurity about what it means to be here. (Chris, POL, Dot to Line)

Chris's quote shows that adopting intersectionality as a prescriptive model potentially leaves little room to fully depict the experiences of POLs and learners of GIFSTEM programs, where underrepresentation and privilege often coexistence (Walt & Barker, 2020; Eynon, 2022)

POL accounts reflect their understanding of the intersectional nature of gender in GIFSTEM initiatives. Simultaneously, they must make practical decisions when structuring programs, which leaves out certain groups of learners. When asked about how ChickTech accounts for aspects of learner's identity, such as disability, other than gender, Margareta describes the mission of inclusion in STEM as a process rather than a fixed state:

As an organization with limited resources, it can be tempting to want to throw every problem at the table and have a go at it, but then there would not be enough resources for the other parts of the program. It's tough, and I think we're still trying to figure out that balance. (Margareta, POL, ChickTech)

This reflection of necessary pragmatism (El-Hani & Mortimer, 2007) is shared by Alicia, co-founder of two sizable GIFT programs in Switzerland. I asked whether the organizations have any plans on including non-binary coders in their programming Alicia responded: "So the short answer is no, we haven't thought about including it explicitly in our marketing. It's not the layers we think about, which is mainly gender, ethnicity, ability". She further elaborated on this position, commenting on the necessity of a strategic and deliberate process of target learner demographics selection for a GIFT program to maximally benefit different participants:

I think we, as people who care about inclusion, of course, should hold ourselves to a high standard, and then higher... I empathize very much with every person who wants to do better in every layer and aspect. But I think some fundamental things would raise the bar for everyone: For instance, shared parental leave and not just maternal leave. Equal pension contribution

so retirement costs are the same [for all genders], like these basic things. You gotta pick your battles. (Alicia, POL, SheWhoCodes; MatchTech)

POLs such as Margareta and Alicia recognize that their program framing can always be further expanded to actively include different intersectionally underrepresented learners in STEM (Vitores & Gil-Juárez, 2016). They fully understand the potential issue of grouping 'women in STEM' as a homogenous group (Butler, 1990). But they also know the importance of deliberate scope-setting for a GIFSTEM organization to be sustainable.

The natural follow-up question is: How does a GIFSTEM organization decide on their target learner demographics? One factor could be the backgrounds of board members. For instance, Margareta shares that ChickTech's decision to target learners of marginalized genders from the very beginning was shaped by non-binary staff on the initial team. Another factor which influences GIFSTEM organizations' target learner demographics is their operational contexts.

3.3.2.2 Contextualization

"We cannot just go out to the public and say we're trying to empower women. That doesn't make sense. So, we're trying to make everything look neutral, like it's not trying to offend men or a specific group of people, [this is how we are] trying to be inclusive and drama-free." (Seo-yeon, POL, SheWhoCodes)

Components of intersectionality are contextual (Valentine, 2007; Mirza, 2013; Jang, 2018). The goals of a GIFSTEM program, which shape their programming structures and target learner demographics, are influenced by the cultural and social contexts they are in (Brotman & Moore, 2008).

Even two branches of the same organization, with identical overarching operational principles, could have distinct program structures depending on their operational realities. Seo-yeon, a PL of YesSTEM, is currently a founding board member of SheWhoCodes South Korea. Seo-yeon and her team are highly aware of the contextual conditions they operate in. In recent years, there have been "on-and offline gender wars" (Jeong & Lee, 2018, p. 705) in South Korea, where feminism and efforts for gender equality face many pushbacks that can sometimes be violent (Kim, 2021). While all event speakers are women industry leaders in

the country, the board intentionally removed gender-targeted framing (e.g. data on the STEM gender gaps) in their marketing:

"We are aware that within Korea, there are very tense conflicts between genders already, even without the Tech industry... A lot of people find it very sensitive to even mention this [gender equality], or talk about them [gender issues] in public... So everyone [on the team] is being conscious about it". (Seo-yeon, POL, SheWhoCodes)

While the main challenge that Seo-yeon found as a POL is to strategically navigate the political and social tensions around gender-related topics, Alicia, a founding board member of SheWhoCodes Switzerland, finds dit challenging to push against structural contributors to the STEM gender gaps (Boehmer & Schinnenburg, 2018) within the country:

There is structural discrimination in Switzerland. There are some pretty basic ones, like, as an employee, I pay more health insurance costs for a woman employee than a male employee of the same age... We [GIFSTEM organizations) need to follow our [learner] community at all levels and make sure that they don't end up in middle management purgatory but move up past middle management. (Alicia, POL, SheWhoCodes and MatchTech)

Alicia is not alone in recognizing the need for structural change. Dot to Line, the only GIFSTEM organization in their operational context, has a big focus on policy advocacy. Chris talks about the practical considerations the team need to make when speaking to lawmakers and politicians in the region, which involves strategically adopting the gender binary:

Our programs are explicitly open to women and other gender minorities. We have students who identify as female but are genetically male. But also, we need to be very careful about how we promote inclusivity because within [our context], [gender beyond the binary] is not a thing that is well understood by policymakers... When I have 10 politicians to talk to, am I gonna spend 50% of the time talking about women and 50% of the time talking about gender minorities? Or am I gonna spend 100% of the time talking about women?

Which one of those is more effective to change legal constraints? Right now, it's women. We try to be as inclusive an environment as possible for people of all genders. But when it comes to trying to define policy, that argument is a bit harder to make. (Chris, POL, Dot to Line)

These reflections by Seo-yeon, Alicia and Chris demonstrate the nuances GIFSTEM program leaders consider when trying to reach their organizational goals. They illustrate that there can be two layers of program framing: One that is broader and public-facing for marketing and policy advocacy (Majoko, 2019; Furst-Holloway & Miner, 2019). Another is more internal and participant-focused (Miralles-Cardona et al., 2021). POL accounts illustrate that both layers can co-exist and alternate as the forefront message depending on the audience. Unlike what some literature suggests (e.g. Petrucci, 2020), such duo-layered framing allows the simultaneous occurrences of benefits for individual underrepresented learners, as well as organizational efforts for systematic changes through policy advocacy. As Achiam & Holmegaard (2017) point out, there is not a universal framework of gender inclusion when it comes to informal STEM education. POLs' experiences demonstrate the importance of intentional and contextualized choices at each stage of an effective GIFSTEM program's development and progression (David, 2001).

3.3.2.3 Relationships with Commercial Partners

It is no easy task for a GIFSTEM organization to both produce numerically measurable results and actively measure learners' experiences (Gill et al., 2018). Especially in the beginning stages of an organization, where POLs want to "just get the ball rolling" (Alicia, POL, SheWhoCodes and MatchTech) with few resources. While there are public resources, such as policies on STEM education (Ro et al., 2021), most GIFSTEM organizations' operations rely on partnerships with private entities, such as the Tech industry (Savchuk, 2019; Writer, 2021).

Depending on the organization and context, POLs often have complex feelings towards their relationships with commercial partners. It can be a win-win situation:

Commercial organizations help keep us afloat with their financial resources, or even volunteers that can lead workshops and become mentors ... They also ask us to shape their diversity, equity and inclusion initiatives... There's a

mutual sense of relying on each other. We are trying to support the employees that work at these big companies and help them build communities outside of their workplace, while they as the workplace are asking us for advice.

(Margareta, POL, ChickTech)

Margareta also reflects on the differences between genuine and cosmetic efforts from a commercial partner's interest in collaborations: "We kind of play the role, whether superficial or not, of guiding them and being the subject matter experts for working with marginalized genders and being more inclusive for nonbinary folks." The difficulty to distinguish partnership interests is echoed by two other POLs. Alicia is honest about the filtering processes her GIFSTEM organizations have in partnering with commercial partners to change their internal structures:

A company wanted to do a campaign for International Women's Day with us. They originally asked us to do an awareness campaign and show inspiring women or whatever. And we're like, awareness is not good enough... Then what we did is... a commitment campaign on implementing changes over the next three years, instead of "Oh, look at this inspiring woman. But we're paying her 20% less than her male colleagues doing the same work, plus there's no one that looks like her in the higher echelons of the company". (Alicia, POL, SheWhoCodes; MatchTech)

Chris also expresses sometimes feeling frustrated when certain commercial partners do not provide concrete resources in the collaboration process:

When companies say they are dedicated to 'bringing more women to Tech' but are only giving like \$5000. It's frustrating. You are a billion-dollar company. You can afford to do more than that... The level of megaphone to the level of action is very different. (Chris, POL, Dot to Line)

These experiences show that the programming frameworks of GIFSTEM organizations are bidirectionally influenced by interests from the private sector, driven by policies. Williamson et al. (2019) demonstrate the complex relationships and potentially asymmetrical power dynamics between governmental, commercial, and civic sectors that

shape computing and coding initiatives. The activities of GIFSTEM organizations are influenced, and sometimes, restricted, by funding priorities and broader political agendas of their operational contexts (García-Peñalvo, 2019; Kitada & Harada, 2019).

Chapter 4: Discussions

This chapter first reviews the findings corresponding to the three research questions. It summarizes both the contributions as well as limitations of this study. Then, I outline recommendations for future GIFSTEM literature: The importance of an intersectional lens in questioning monolithic categories such as 'women' and 'STEM'; The need for more geographical breadth when evaluating the effectiveness of GIFSTEM organizations, as well as the legitimacy of the 'men vs. women' dichotomy. Lastly, drawing on previous research and findings of this study, I present two recommendations for GIFSTEM organizations.

4.1 Findings and Research Questions

This study investigates learners' and project leaders' experiences participating in GIFSTEM organizations. Through an intersectional lens, it explores how participants' different social identities interact with their gender, thereby shaping their perceptions of GIFSTEM informal educational programs. There are three research questions:

- RQ1: What are the benefits of GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM)
 programs perceived by different learners?
- RQ2: What are the barriers learners feel like they face when considering STEM-related professions/postgraduate studies, and to what extent are they mitigated by GIFSTEM programs?
- RQ3: What are the (a) aspirations of (b) challenges for different GIFSTEM organizations?

From 13 individual online semi-structured interviews, several themes emerged. Three benefits of GIFSTEM programs experienced by learner participants of this research are community-building, networking-mentoring, and expanded understanding of different STEM postgraduate and professional opportunities.

There are, nevertheless, some challenges learners feel in terms of advancing into a STEM profession or postgraduate studies. From learner participants' perspectives, GIFSTEM organizations can mitigate some barriers. For instance, several learners find comfort in connecting with 'women like them' (Lockwood, 2006) through GIFSTEM programs.

However, outside of, and sometimes even within, these communities, learners can also feel hypervisible due to other aspects of their identities, such as religion, thereby also feeling a pressure of excellence because of the need to represent their entire social category (Yamaguchi & Burge, 2019). Such heightened visibility could also contribute to the imposter syndrome (Cross et al., 2020) several learners experience, questioning whether they receive competitive opportunities because of tokenistic purposes, i.e., their minority status, or their technical abilities. The nature of GIFSTEM organizations also leaves some learner participants feeling included for their gender but excluded for other metrics of their identity (e.g. immigration status, disability). Learners' perceptions of participating in GIFSTEM organizations are therefore shaped by their intersectional identities.

Similarly, POLs' lived experiences have direct influences on the goals, program structures, as well as target learner demographics of their affiliated organizations. To investigate how different GIFSTEM initiatives are designed and internally evaluated, five interviews with POLs are conducted. POL accounts illustrate the importance of pragmatic decisions contextualized to the organization's operational environment in developing, implementing, and evaluating a sustainable GIFSTEM organization. Some strategic choices can even seem contradictory (e.g. Dot to Line's active inclusion of gender minorities in workshops but adherence on the gender binary framework in policy advocacy).

POLs also have mixed experiences navigating relationships with different commercial partners, ranging from bidirectional partnerships to tokenistic gestures with little concrete resources. These accounts demonstrate that GIFSTEM organizations are contextual. There is not, unfortunately, a universal formula on how to operate programs which both create systemic changes and enhances individual underrepresented STEM learners' experiences.

4.2 Contributions, Limitations, and Future Research Directions

4.2.1 A Framework that Does Not Treat 'Women' in 'STEM' as Monolithic Categories

Several authors have pointed out the tendency in many GIFSTEM literature to treat 'women' in 'STEM' as monolithic groups without inner differentiation (Vitores & Gil-Juárez, 2016; Convertino, 2020; Behnke et al., 2021). What exactly do we mean when we use the terms 'women' and 'STEM'? What groups of women are being included, and subsequently, excluded? There is only a handful of research which considers intersections other than gender and race, while metrics such as disability (Slaton, 2013; Miller & Downey, 2020), religion

(Convertino, 2020), and immigration status (Igarashi & Saito, 2014) are rarely discussed. These are questions that could further nuance and broaden the current academic discourse on GIFSTEM policies and organizations.

This study fills in such a gap through personal accounts of different women learners of various STEM subjects who face different barriers due to their unique mappings of identities. As data from learner interviews demonstrate, different social categories work in conjunction with gender and affect learners differently, influencing what they think are the biggest barriers in entering and remaining in STEM postgraduate education and professions. For instance, even though both Vaneet and Laila would be categorized as 'women in color in STEM' due to their ethnicities in the U.S., where they both live and work now, their concerns and priorities differ because of immigration statuses.

Nine learner participants nevertheless form a very small sample, one major limitation of this research. All participants, as Chapter 3 demonstrates, have thoroughgoingly reflected on the implications of GIFSTEM programs and topics such as diversity. They do not need me to give them a voice. These accounts cannot be representative of the experiences of all women in GIFSTEM programs in the 10 different geographical locations. This study presents their experiences, studying and working cross-culturally, experiencing different definitions of identity and social categories, in contexts that are currently underrepresented in GIFSTEM literature (Kos, 2019; Convertino, 2020).

In the spirit of non-essentialization, I did not reach out to individual learner participants solely because of their gender. The certain degree of 'outness' associated with participating and confirming one's pronouns (Goodrich et al., 2016; Staples et al., 2018; McCann et al., 2021) perhaps partially explains why all learner participants identify as cisgender. More research is needed that evaluates woman and non-binary learners' experiences of GIFSTEM organizations.

In policy and literature, there seems to be a relatively clear-cut distinction between what STEM disciplines are (and what they are not). But in reality, learners' experiences of STEM seem to be much muddier. Valini, who participated in GIFSTEM programs throughout high school and her first year of university, decided to pursue a Social Science degree with a quantitative focus. She wants to apply her coding skills gained through participation in GIFSTEM organizations to social science research. But Valini feels uncertain about this choice:

I feel so grateful to have had all these resources about STEM at such a young age, from 10 to 16.... Even though I'm super interested in integrating coding and quantitative methods into my major, it's hard for me to label myself as 'a woman in STEM'. It feels very binary. It's either you are, or you are not, which I know is not what it is supposed to be, but it just feels like that. Can I be part of it [YesSTEM] with my current major? All the club people say yes. But I feel a lot of pressure and discomfort making this push away from it [STEM disciplines]. (Valini, CL)

Valini is not alone in her feelings of uncertainty. Shinar and Vaneet study both Interactive Digital Media, a multi-disciplinary subject grounded in creative and community-building usages of technology, and a more traditional STEM subject, such as CS (Vaneet) and Computer Engineering (Shinar). They feel unsure whether Interactive Digital Media is a STEM discipline, even though they have gained coding skills through the major, and thoroughgoingly enjoying the learning process due to its emphasis on the practical application of programming.

These accounts reaffirm observations made by more recent literature on expanding the boundaries of STEM (Plaza et al., 2020; Baizán et al., 2021). An intersectional lens provides a theoretical underpinning which does not treat 'women' in 'STEM' as monolithic groups with no inner differentiations. There are opportunities for future research to explore how learners with intersectional identities of less conventional STEM subjects perceive and experience GIFSTEM programs.

4.2.2 An Intersectional Lens: Beyond the 'Men vs. Women' Dichotomy

Globally, STEM education and professions tend to be male dominated (Beyer, 2014; Sax et al., 2017; Schwab et al., 2019) with varying degrees of gender gaps (Hammond et al., 2020; Bello et al., 2021). It might be intuitive to position the solution to the gender gaps as 'bringing more women into STEM'. This framing holds two tensions: The assumption of monolithic groupings (e.g. 'women', 'STEM'). It also envisions a vacuum in which GIFSTEM programs have no effects on men. A growing body of evidence suggests the contrary.

Beyer et al. (2004) found little gender difference in students' feelings of isolation and lack of belonging in a competitive CS program in a U.S. university. Murphy et al. (2018)

discovered that men, a social group previously assumed to be immune to social identity threats, experience them when there is an increased representation of women in STEM. This could be a result of the changing standards and expectations of success in STEM education and professions (Diekman et al., 2015). The threat to social identity might result in what McLeish & Oxoby (2011) describes as "push-backs to re-assert their individually held identities" (173). As shown in Section 3.2.1, such reassertion, manifested in forms such as micro-aggressions tend to not land on institutions that push for diversity in STEM, but rather their women peers, target learners of GIFSTEM initiatives (Coston & Kimmel, 2012; Diekman et al., 2015).

Categories currently under-discussed in literature (e.g. disability) also apply to men. This is evident in Chris's account, feeling uncertain about entering and remaining in Tech because of his non-traditional academic background (see Section 3.3.2.1). Coston & Kimmel (2012) obverses that a universal and dichotomous understanding of privilege oversimplifies the realities of men who have marginalized social categories such as class, disability, and sexuality. It is therefore important for literature on inclusion in STEM education and professions to adopt an intersectional lens (Miller & Downey, 2020) considering the (perhaps) unforeseeable effects the 'man vs. woman' framing have on already underrepresented women in STEM.

Furthermore, six learners expressed developing a broadened understanding of different possibilities in STEM education and professions as one of the biggest benefits of GIFSTEM programs. This unexpected benefit, less discussed in existing literature (Eccles, 2011; Solanki & Xu, 2018; Sinclair et al., 2019), is not necessarily gendered (Borrego & Henderson, 2014; Xu & Lastrapes, 2021). For instance, Mustafa et al. (2016) conducted a systematic review on effective STEM education. The authors discovered that the project-based learning approach, which combines learned knowledge of STEM disciplines with real-life problems, is effective in maintaining students' interests in, and comprehension of, STEM fields (Mustafa et al., 2016). Data from learner interviews reaffirms that understanding the practical applications of STEM degrees is a need not just unique to women, but all STEM learners (Herschbach, 2011; Pitt et al., 2019).

I, therefore, echo Vitores & Gil-Juárez (2016) and Convertino (2020) that there needs to be more nuance in GIFSTEM literature. I'm not suggesting the complete abandonment of the gender angle in inclusion and STEM education analysis, but methods which leave room for marginalization and privilege to co-exist (Martinez Dy et al., 2014). Aligning with the broader beyond-the gender-dichotomy movement in education literature (Saguy et al., 2021;

Jaekel & Nicolazzo, 2022; Zhang & Chen, 2022), a non-prescriptive intersectional approach is necessary in presenting the multifaceted experiences of underrepresented STEM learners.

4.2.3 Perspectives of POLs in Different GIFSTEM Organizations

Academic literature and discourse can certainly push the boundaries around the conceptualization of gender inclusion and STEM education (Marginson et al., 2013). However, there can also be disconnections between practice and academic debates (Goodrich et al., 2016; Lv et al., 2022; Okoroigwe et al., 2022). In addition to going outside of dichotomies (e.g. 'men and women', 'STEM subjects and non-STEM disciplines', 'privileged and underrepresented'), two other expansions of framing remain critical: Analysis of GIFSTEM programs outside of North America and Western Europe contexts (Mooney & Becker, 2020), as well as perspectives from different project organizers (Johnson et al., 2020).

In this study, interviews with POLs in five different operational contexts illustrate the pragmatic decisions different organizations have to make when caught between the public and the private sectors. More research is needed to assess and examine the practical challenges of GIFSTEM organizations when contextually evaluating their effectiveness.

4.3 Suggestions for GIFSTEM Organizations

While the six organizations affiliated with the five POL participants are a small sample, some insights remain relevant to different GIFSTEM organizations, ranging from a local organization filling a gap in the STEM community to a well-established organization considering developing global branches. I present two suggestions.

4.3.1 Wide-Ranging Considerations for Board Members

POL insights show the importance of having diverse board members, especially in the initial stages of a GIFSTEM organization. ChickTech, for instance, included non-binary coders in their mission statement from beginning partially because there were non-binary team members. It is also important to design programs depending on the political realities, such as level of social consensus on gender equality. For a large GIFSTEM organization considering scaling globally, it is crucial to have local team members who are themselves underrepresented STEM learners in that specific context (see Section 3.3.2.2 for comparisons of contextualized programming structures between SheWhoCodes South Korea and

Switzerland). Effective contextualization can also prevent well-intended GIFSTEM programs from perpetuating Western-centric assumptions (Mattheis, 2018).

4.3.2 Internal Surveys for Intersectional Assessment

Even when there is a diverse range of board members on the team, it is still important for a GIFSTEM organization to have a constant and consistent process of internal evaluation based on learners' different intersectional identities. Metrics of one's identity that is not directly visible (e.g. immigration status) can have significant impacts on their learning needs (see Section 3.2) It might not be logistically possible for one GIFSTEM organization to have tailored programming for every combination of intersections, as demonstrated in several POLs' emphasis on "picking one's battles" (Alicia, Margareta, Chris). However, by having up-to-date internal data on different learning needs, a GIFSTEM organization could signpost external resources (e.g. direct learners to another non-profit for visa sponsorship resources). This could help learners with other underrepresented identity metrics to feel more included.

4.4 Summary

While the sample size of 13 participants is small, it nevertheless adds to existing research by presenting personal experiences of learners and project organizers with GIFSTEM organizations in a range of geographical settings from an intersectional lens. This study makes four theoretical contributions: (a) Use of qualitative methods that critically examine monolithic categories such as 'women' and 'STEM'. (b) Presentation of learners' perspectives with various intersectional identities currently understudied (c) Introduction of more geographical breadths (d) Inclusion of facilitators and program organizers' accounts. More future studies on GIFSTEM initiatives are needed to fill in these gaps in literature.

Findings of this study also lead to two suggestions for practitioners. Having diverse board members and internal mechanisms for intersectional evaluations of participants can both be effective practices for a contextualized and sustainable GIFSTEM organization. With an increasingly globally dispersed workforce (Manyika, 2017) comes plurality of one's identity (El-Hani & Mortimer, 2007). Having nuanced understanding of the complex contextual realities of their learners, as well as their operational environment, allow GIFSTEM initiatives to better serve their goals.

Conclusion

This research investigates learners' and program leaders' perceptions and experiences of various GIFSTEM (gender inclusion for STEM) organizations in a range of geographical settings through an intersectional lens. It utilizes qualitative methods, specifically online semi-structured interviews. Nine learners (five past learners and four current learners) and five POLs (project organizers and leaders) participated, landing a total of 13 interviews (one participant provided detailed experiences in both roles). Building on existing literature on the topic, this study also adds geographical breadths, detailed individual accounts, and perspectives from project leaders of GIFSTEM organizations.

As discussed throughout the paper, with a relatively small sample, this research was not intended as a universal for effective GIFSTEM initiatives. It instead presents nuanced experiences by participants, learners and POLs alike, who, just like all of us, are multifaceted. Their different intersectional identities shape their perceptions and experiences of GIFSTEM programs. There are, nevertheless, common themes from their accounts that respond to the three research questions.

Learners perceive three benefits through their participation in GIFSTEM organizations (Section 3.1). The first two, community-building (Beyer et al., 2004; McPherson, 2014; Petrucci 2020) and networking-mentoring (Haring-Hidore, 1987; Haring, 1999; Ahuja, 2002), align with common evidence in the existing literature. An unexpected third benefit emerged from interviews. Six learner participants speak about having more understanding of different STEM educational and professional paths through GIFSTEM organizations. They express feeling more reassured about remaining in the field after learning that options other than "software engineer at Facebook" (Vaneet, PL) are possible.

Although GIFSTEM organizations offer important contributions to learners' sense of belonging (Herzig, 2010) in the field, some barriers remain (Section 3.2). Being one of the few minorities in a STEM space make learners feel hypervisible (Convertino, 2020). Furthermore, some learners also feel the constant pressure of excellence due to feeling the need to represent everyone who belongs to their underrepresented social categories (Herzig, 2010; Charleston et al., 2014; Yamaguchi & Burge, 2019). Another barrier in retaining learners in STEM is, interestingly, partially influenced by GIFSTEM organizations that try to do so. Several learners express feeling included only for their gender but excluded for other identity metrics (e.g. disability, immigration status, religion). These other social categories, which cannot be isolated from their gender in their lived experiences, also influence their

educational and professional choices and needs (Dill & Zambrana, 2009; Nash, 2017). Currently, they are largely ignored in mainstream GIFSTEM literature and practices (Tefera, 2017; Miles et al., 2022) but could be remedied through the adoption of more intersectional approaches (Convertino, 2020).

POL accounts (See Section 3.3) also illustrate the relationship between their lived experiences and the programming of their affiliated GIFSTEM organization(s). Structures of different initiatives are influenced by many factors- their envisioned end goals and programming strategies, target learner demographic, the operational context, and relationships with commercial partners, just to name a few. These complicated conditions push POLs to make pragmatic choices in their operations that can sometimes seem contradictory to each other (e.g. SheWhoCodes South Korea, with the mission of increasing representation of women in STEM professions and education, avoids marketing their events with a gender lens to minimize pushbacks). As DeAro et al. (2019) and Benavent et al. (2020) have argued, the future of GIFSTEM must involve a combination of bottom-up initiatives intersectionally designed for different learners and policy changes that structurally bridge the STEM gender gaps.

While this study provides two suggestions for GIFSTEM organizations, I reiterate that there is no step-by-step guide that applies to all initiatives. Much more work is needed to evaluate GIFSTEM initiatives through both the learner's and POLs' perspectives in a range of contexts. This research contributes to that endeavour.

References

- Accenture, & Girls Who Code. (2020). RESETTING TECH CULTURE: 5 strategies to keep women in tech. https://www.accenture.com/_acnmedia/pdf-134/accenture-a4-gwc-report-final1.pdf
- Achiam, M., & Holmegaard, H. (2017). *Informal science education and gender inclusion*.
- Agommuoh, P. C., & Ndirika, M. C. (2020). STRATEGIES FOR PROMOTING GENDER EQUALITY IN STEM TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT. *Journal Of The Nigerian Academy Of Education*, 14(1).
- Ahuja, M. K. (2002). Women in the information technology profession: A literature review, synthesis and research agenda. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 11(1), 20–34. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000417
- Alam, A., & Tapia, I. S. (2020). Mapping gender equality in STEM from school to work | UNICEF

 Office of Global Insight & Policy. UNICEF Office of Global Insight and Poli.

 https://www.unicef.org/globalinsight/stories/mapping-gender-equality-stem-school-work
- Allen, S., & Peterman, K. (2019). Evaluating Informal STEM Education: Issues and Challenges in Context. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2019(161), 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.20354
- Alvarado, C., & Dodds, Z. (2010). Women in CS: An evaluation of three promising practices.

 *Proceedings of the 41st ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education
 *SIGCSE '10, 57. https://doi.org/10.1145/1734263.1734281
- Ammon-Gaberson, K. B., & Piantanida, M. (1988). Generating Results from Qualitative Data. *Image: The Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 20(3), 159–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1988.tb00058.x
- Armstrong, M. A., & Jovanovic, J. (2015). STARTING AT THE CROSSROADS:

 INTERSECTIONAL APPROACHES TO INSTITUTIONALLY SUPPORTING

 UNDERREPRESENTED MINORITY WOMEN STEM FACULTY. Journal of Women and

- Minorities in Science and Engineering, 21(2).
- https://doi.org/10.1615/JWomenMinorScienEng.2015011275
- Babbie, E. R. (1986). The practice of social research. Wadsworth Pub. Co.
- Baizán, P., Plaza, P., Sancristobal, E., Carro, G., Blázquez-Merino, M., Menacho, A., Macho, A.,
 García-Loro, F., & Castro, M. (2021). Activities and Technologies to Promote Women
 Presence in STEAM. *IEEE Revista Iberoamericana de Tecnologias Del Aprendizaje*, 16(3),
 241–247. https://doi.org/10.1109/RITA.2021.3132605
- Barter, C., & Renold, E. (2000). "I wanna tell you a story": Exploring the application of vignettes in qualitative research with children and young people. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 3(4), 307–323. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570050178594
- Basit, T. (2003). Manual or electronic? The role of coding in qualitative data analysis. *Educational Research*, 45(2), 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/0013188032000133548
- Bayaga, A. (2022). Exploring race and gender as a conduit to STEM disciplines via decolonial intersectionality theory. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1776419/v1
- Baym, N. K. (2015). Personal Connections in the Digital Age. John Wiley & Sons.
- Behnke, J., Rispens, S., & Demerouti, E. (2021, July). *The effectiveness of a disruptive policy to increase gender equality at a STEM university: Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Conference.*
- Belgorodskiy, A., Crump, B., Griffiths, M., Logan, K., Peter, R., & Richardson, H. (2012). The gender pay gap in the ICT labour market: Comparative experiences from the UK and New Zealand: ICT labour market gender pay gap. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 27(2), 106–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2012.00281.x
- Bello, A., Blowers, T., Schneegans, S., & Straza, T. (2021). To be smart, the digital revolution will need to be inclusive: Excerpt from the UNESCO science report—UNESCO Digital Library. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000375429

- Benavent, X., de Ves, E., Forte, A., Botella-Mascarell, C., López-Iñesta, E., Rueda, S., Roger, S.,
 Perez, J., Portalés, C., Dura, E., Garcia-Costa, D., & Marzal, P. (2020). Girls4STEM: Gender
 Diversity in STEM for a Sustainable Future. Sustainability, 12(15), 6051.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/su12156051
- Berg, A.-J., & Lie, M. (1995). Feminism and Constructivism: Do Artifacts Have Gender? *Science, Technology, & Human Values*, 20(3), 332–351.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/016224399502000304
- Beyer, S. (2014). Why are women underrepresented in Computer Science? Gender differences in stereotypes, self-efficacy, values, and interests and predictors of future CS course-taking and grades. *Computer Science Education*, 24(2–3), 153–192.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2014.963363
- Beyer, S., Rynes, K., & Haller, S. (2004). Deterrents to women taking computer science courses.

 *IEEE Technology & Society Magazine, 23(1), 21–28.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/MTAS.2004.1273468
- Bignold, W., & Su, F. (2013). The role of the narrator in narrative inquiry in education:

 Construction and co-construction in two case studies. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *36*(4), 400–414. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2013.773508
- Bilge, S. (2013). INTERSECTIONALITY UNDONE: Saving Intersectionality from Feminist Intersectionality Studies1. *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race*, 10(2), 405–424. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742058X13000283
- Bilimoria, D., & Liang, X. (2014). Effective practices to increase women's participation, advancement and leadership in US academic STEM. *Women in STEM Careers*, 146–165.
- Boehmer, N., & Schinnenburg, H. (2018). Preventing the leaky pipeline: Teaching future female leaders to manage their careers and promote gender equality in organizations. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 19, 63–81.

- Borrego, M., & Henderson, C. (2014). Increasing the Use of Evidence-Based Teaching in STEM Higher Education: A Comparison of Eight Change Strategies. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 103(2), 220–252. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20040
- Bouchard, K. (2016). Anonymity as a Double-Edge Sword: Reflecting on the Implications of Online Qualitative Research in Studying Sensitive Topics. *The Qualitative Report*. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2455
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). Outline of a theory of practice. University Press.
- Britton, D. M. (2017). Beyond the Chilly Climate: The Salience of Gender in Women's Academic Careers. *Gender & Society*, 31(1), 5–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243216681494
- Brotman, J. S., & Moore, F. M. (2008). Girls and science: A review of four themes in the science education literature. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45(9), 971–1002. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20241
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE Principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semistructured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (Fifth Edition). Oxford University Press.
- Brzozowy, M., Hołownicka, K., Bzdak, J., Tornese, P., Lupiañez-Villanueva, F., Vovk, N., Torre, J. J. S. de la, Perelló, J., Bonhoure, I., Panou, E., Bampasidis, G., Verdis, A., Papaspirou, P., Kasoutas, M., Vlachos, I., Kokkotas, S., & Moussas, X. (2017). MAKING STEM EDUCATION ATTRACTIVE FOR YOUNG PEOPLE BY PRESENTING KEY SCIENTIFIC CHALLENGES AND THEIR IMPACT ON OUR LIFE AND CAREER PERSPECTIVES. *INTED2017 Proceedings*, 9948–9957.

https://doi.org/10.21125/inted.2017.2374

- Butler, D. (2000). Gender, Girls, and Computer Technology: What's the Status Now? *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 73(4), 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098650009600957
- Butler, J. (1990). Gender trouble: Feminism and the subversion of identity. Routledge.
- Cabaroglu, N., Başaran, S., & Roberts, J. (2010). A comparison between the occurrence of pauses, repetitions and recasts under conditions of face-to-face and computer-mediated communication: A preliminary study. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9. Camp, T. (2002). *The Incredible Shrinking Pipeline*. 34(2), 6.
- Campbell, K. (2020). Gender and Technology: Social Context and Intersectionality. In M. J. Bishop, E. Boling, J. Elen, & V. Svihla (Eds.), *Handbook of Research in Educational Communications and Technology* (pp. 115–204). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36119-8_7
- Caretta, M. A. (2015). Situated knowledge in cross-cultural, cross-language research: A collaborative reflexive analysis of researcher, assistant and participant subjectivities.

 Qualitative Research, 15(4), 489–505. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114543404
- Carr, T. (2020, June 22). Coronavirus Coverage and the Silencing of Female Expertise. *Undark Magazine*. https://undark.org/2020/06/22/coronavirus-coverage-silencing-female-expertise/
- Carter, D. F., Razo Dueñas, J. E., & Mendoza, R. (2019). Critical Examination of the Role of STEM in Propagating and Maintaining Race and Gender Disparities. In M. B. Paulsen & L. W. Perna (Eds.), *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research: Volume 34* (pp. 39–97). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03457-3
- Cech, E. A., & Blair-Loy, M. (2010). Perceiving Glass Ceilings? Meritocratic versus Structural Explanations of Gender Inequality among Women in Science and Technology. *Social Problems*, *57*(3), 371–397. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2010.57.3.371

- Ceia, V., Nothwehr, B., & Wagner, L. (2021). Gender and Technology: A rights-based and intersectional analysis of key trends. Oxfam.
 https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/research-publications/gender-and-technology-a-rights-based-and-intersectional-analysis-of-key-trends/
- Charleston, L., Adserias, R. P., Lang, N. M., & Jackson, J. F. (2014). Intersectionality and STEM:

 The role of race and gender in the academic pursuits of African American women in STEM. *Journal of Progressive Policy & Practice*, 2(3), 273–293.
- Charleston, L. J., George, P. L., Jackson, J. F. L., Berhanu, J., & Amechi, M. H. (2014).

 Navigating underrepresented STEM spaces: Experiences of Black women in U.S. computing science higher education programs who actualize success. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 7(3), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036632
- Chemaly, S. (n.d.). *The problem with a technology revolution designed primarily for men*. Quartz.

 Retrieved December 3, 2021, from https://qz.com/640302/why-is-so-much-of-our-new-technology-designed-primarily-for-men/
- Cheryan, S., & Plaut, V. C. (2010). Explaining Underrepresentation: A Theory of Precluded Interest. *Sex Roles*, 63(7), 475–488. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-010-9835-x
- Cheryan, S., Plaut, V. C., Davies, P. G., & Steele, C. M. (2009). Ambient belonging: How stereotypical cues impact gender participation in computer science. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97(6), 1045–1060. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016239
- Choi, J., Kushner, K. E., Mill, J., & Lai, D. W. L. (2012). Understanding the Language, the Culture, and the Experience: Translation in Cross-Cultural Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(5), 652–665. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691201100508
- Chowdhury, F. N., Marinova, G., Ciuperca, E., Bhattacharya, B. S., & Doyle-Kent, M. (2021).

 The State of Play in Diversity and Inclusion in STEM-A Review of Empirical Evidence,

- Focusing on Gender. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, *54*(13), 570–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2021.10.510
- Choy, L. T. (2014). The strengths and weaknesses of research methodology: Comparison and complimentary between qualitative and quantitative approaches. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 19(4), 99–104.
- Christou, E., & Parmaxi, A. (2022). Gender-sensitive tools and materials for women empowerment in STEM: A systematic review with industrial and instructional recommendations and implications. *Universal Access in the Information Society*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-022-00881-z
- Cielo, C., & Coba, L. (2018). Extractivism, Gender, and Disease: An Intersectional Approach to Inequalities. *Ethics & International Affairs*, *32*(2), 169–178.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0892679418000291
- Ciupercă, E. M., & Stanciu, A. (2020). VARIABLES OF STEM CAREER OF WOMEN IN ROMANIA. Redefining Community in Intercultural Context, 9(1), 289–294.
- Cohoon, J. (2001). Toward Improving Female Retention in the Computer Science Major.

 Communications of the ACM, 44, 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1145/374308.374367
- Cohoon, J. M. (2002). Recruiting and retaining women in undergraduate computing majors. SIGCSE Bulletin, 34(2), 48–52. https://doi.org/10.1145/543812.543829
- Cole, E. (2009). Intersectionality and Research in Psychology. *The American Psychologist*, *64*, 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014564
- Convertino, C. (2018). "La Migra" in the Classroom: Transfronterizx Students Exploring Mobility in Transnational Higher Education on the US-Mexico Border. *Educational Studies*, *54*(5), 569–582. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2018.1492923

- Convertino, C. (2020). Nuancing the discourse of underrepresentation: A feminist post-structural analysis of gender inequality in computer science education in the US. *Gender and Education*, 32(5), 594–607. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2019.1632417
- Corcoran, J. A., & Stewart, M. (1998). Stories of stuttering: A qualitative analysis of interview narratives. *Journal of Fluency Disorders*, *23*(4), 247–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0094-730X(98)00020-5
- Coston, B. M., & Kimmel, M. (2012). Seeing Privilege Where It Isn't: Marginalized Masculinities and the Intersectionality of Privilege. *Journal of Social Issues*, *68*(1), 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2011.01738.x
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. *The University of Chicago Legal Forum*, *140*, 139–167.
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039 Crenshaw, K. (2019). *On intersectionality: Essential writings*. New Press.
- Cross, K., Farrell, S., & Chavela Guerra, R. (2020). Work in Progress: Building a Safe Queer

 Community in STEM—It Takes a Village to Support a Village. 2020 ASEE Virtual Annual

 Conference. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--35616
- Darke, K., Clewell, B. C., & Sevo, R. (2002). Meeting the Challenge: The Impact of the National Science FOUNDATION'S Program for Women and Girls. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, 8, 30.
- David, M. E. (2001). Gender Equity Issues in Educational Effectiveness in the Context of Global, Social and Family Life Changes and Public Policy Discourses on Social Inclusion and Exclusion. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 28(2), 99–123.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03549793

- Davis, A. Y. (1983). Women, race & class (1st Vintage Books ed). Vintage Books.
- Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2014). Skype interviewing: Reflections of two PhD researchers. *Qualitative Research*, 14(5), 603–616. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794113488126
- DeAro, J., Bird, S., & Mitchell Ryan, S. (2019). NSF ADVANCE and gender equity: Past, present and future of systemic institutional transformation strategies. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 38(2), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-09-2017-0188
- Dee, H. M., Petrie, K. E., Boyle, R. D., & Pau, R. (2009). Why are we still here? Experiences of successful women in computing. *ACM SIGCSE Bulletin*, 41(3), 233–237. https://doi.org/10.1145/1595496.1562951
- Dele-Ajayi, O., Anderson, E., Strachan, R., Alufa, F., Ayodele, V., Okoli, A., & Fasae, K. (2021).

 Widening the Aspirations of Young People towards Digital and wider STEM Careers: A

 Case Study from the DIGISTEM Programme. 2021 IEEE Global Engineering Education

 Conference (EDUCON), 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON46332.2021.9453969
- Demos, V. P., & Segal, M. T. (2009). *Perceiving gender locally, globally, and intersectionally*.

 Emerald Group Publishing Limited. http://o-www.emeraldinsight.com.cataleg.uoc.edu/1529-2126/13
- Denscombe, M. (2010). *The good research guide: For small-scale social research projects* (4. ed). Open University Press.
- Denton-Calabrese, T., Mustain, P., Geniets, A., Hakimi, L., & Winters, N. (2021). Empowerment beyond skills: Computing and the enhancement of self-concept in the go_girl code+create program. *Computers & Education*, *175*, 104321.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104321
- Diekman, A. B., Weisgram, E. S., & Belanger, A. L. (2015). New Routes to Recruiting and Retaining Women in STEM: Policy Implications of a Communal Goal Congruity

- Perspective: Communal Processes in STEM. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *9*(1), 52–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12010
- Dill, B. T., & Zambrana, R. E. (2009). Emerging intersections: Race, class, and gender in theory, policy, and practice. Rutgers University Press.
 https://www.degruyter.com/isbn/9780813546513
- Dilshad, R. M., & Latif, M. I. (2013). Focus group interview as a tool for qualitative research: An analysis. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, 33(1).
- Dinerstein, J. (2006). Technology and Its Discontents: On the Verge of the Posthuman. *American Quarterly*, 58(3), 569–595. https://doi.org/10.1353/aq.2006.0056
- Dobbin, F., & Kalev, A. (2016). Why diversity programs fail. *Harvard Business Review*, 94(7), 14.
- Doerr, N. M. (2009). 'Rude speech' and 'ignorant audience': Power of ignorance and language politics at an Aotearoa/New Zealand school. *Critical Studies in Education*, *50*(3), 323–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/17508480903161946
- Dollah, S., Abduh, A., & Rosmaladewi, R. (2017, November 7). *Benefits and Drawbacks of NVivo QSR Application*. https://doi.org/10.2991/icest-17.2017.21
- Dorsen, J., Carlson, B., & Goodyear, L. (2006). Connecting informal STEM experiences to career choices: Identifying the pathway. *ITEST Learning Resource Center*, 17.
- Dou, R., Hazari, Z., Dabney, K., Sonnert, G., & Sadler, P. (2019). Early informal STEM experiences and STEM identity: The importance of talking science. *Science Education*, 103(3), 623–637. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21499
- Eccles, J. (2011). Gendered educational and occupational choices: Applying the Eccles et al. model of achievement-related choices. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(3), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025411398185

- Eide, P., & Allen, C. B. (2005). Recruiting Transcultural Qualitative Research Participants: A Conceptual Model. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *4*(2), 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690500400204
- Eisner, E. (1992). Objectivity in Educational Research. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 22(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/03626784.1992.11075389
- El-Hani, C. N., & Mortimer, E. F. (2007). Multicultural education, pragmatism, and the goals of science teaching. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, *2*(3), 657–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-007-9064-y
- Elliott, C., Mavriplis, C., & Anis, H. (2020). An entrepreneurship education and peer mentoring program for women in STEM: Mentors' experiences and perceptions of entrepreneurial self-efficacy and intent. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, *16*(1), 43–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-019-00624-2
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2015). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Everts, S. I. (1998). *Gender and technology: Empowering women, engendering development*. Zed Books; Distributed in the USA exclusively by St. Martin's Press.
- Eynon, R. (2018). Feminist perspectives on learning, media and technology: Recognition and future contributions. *Learning, Media and Technology*, *43*(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2018.1442848
- Eynon, R. (2022). Utilising a Critical Realist Lens to Conceptualise Digital Inequality: The Experiences of Less Well-Off Internet Users. *Social Science Computer Review*, 08944393211069662. https://doi.org/10.1177/08944393211069662
- Faia, M. A. (1980). The Vagaries of the Vignette World: A Comment on Alves and Rossi. American Journal of Sociology, 85(4), 951–954. JSTOR.

- Faludi, S. (2013). Facebook Feminism, Like It or Not. *The Baffler*, 23, 34–51.
- Farinde, A. A., & Lewis, C. W. (2012). The Underrepresentation of African American Female Students in STEM Fields: Implications for Classroom Teachers. In *Online Submission*. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED533550
- Faulkner, W. (2009). Doing gender in engineering workplace cultures. II. Gender in/authenticity and the in/visibility paradox. *Engineering Studies*, *1*(3), 169–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/19378620903225059
- Financial Times. (2018, March 29). The Economics of Big Tech. *FT Collection*. https://www.ft.com/economics-of-big-tech
- Fisher, S., & Jenson, J. (2017). Producing alternative gender orders: A critical look at girls and gaming. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 42(1), 87–99.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2016.1132729
- Fotopoulou, A. (2019). Understanding citizen data practices from a feminist perspective:

 Embodiment and the ethics of care. In *Citizen Media and Practice* (pp. 227–242). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351247375-17
- Friedensen, R. E., Kimball, E., Vaccaro, A., Miller, R. A., & Forester, R. (2021). Queer science: Temporality and futurity for queer students in STEM. *Time & Society*, *30*(3), 332–354. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961463X211008138
- Funk, C., & Parker, K. (2018, January 9). Women and Men in STEM Often at Odds Over

 Workplace Equity. *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/01/09/women-and-men-in-stem-often-at-odds-over-workplace-equity/
- Furst-Holloway, S., & Miner, K. (2019). ADVANCEing women faculty in STEM: Empirical findings and practical recommendations from National Science Foundation ADVANCE

- institutions. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, *38*(2), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-03-2019-295
- Gagnon, R. J., & Sandoval, A. (2020). Pre-college STEM camps as developmental context:

 Mediational relations between gender, career decidedness, socioemotional development, and engagement. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, 104584.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104584
- Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the Semi-Structured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. NYU Press.
- Gandolfi, E., Ferdig, R. E., & Kratcoski, A. (2021). A new educational normal an intersectionality-led exploration of education, learning technologies, and diversity during COVID-19. *Technology in Society*, 66, 101637.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101637
- García-Peñalvo, F. J. (2019). Women and STEM disciplines in Latin America: The W-STEM European Project. https://repositorio.grial.eu/handle/grial/1706
- García-Peñalvo, F. J., García-Holgado, A., Dominguez, A., & Pascual, J. (Eds.). (2022). Women in STEM in Higher Education: Good Practices of Attraction, Access and Retainment in Higher Education. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1552-9
- GBN. (2016, July 1). Black Girls Code Gets New \$2.8M Space Inside Google's New York

 Headquarters. Good Black News. https://goodblacknews.org/2016/07/01/black-girls-code-gets-new-2-8m-space-inside-googles-new-york-headquarters/
- GHC. (2019). Women in Technology Impact Reports. Grace Hopper Celebration. https://ghc.anitab.org/impact-reports/
- GHC. (2022). VGHC EMEA Home. Grace Hopper Celebration. https://ghc.anitab.org/ghc-emea-home

- Gill, G. K., McNally, M. J., & Berman, V. (2018). Effective diversity, equity, and inclusion practices. *Healthcare Management Forum*, 31(5), 196–199.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0840470418773785
- Gioia, D. (2021). A Systematic Methodology for Doing Qualitative Research. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(1), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320982715
- Girls in Tech. (2021, June 2). *Girls in Tech Receives \$250,000 Donation from Facebook* [June 2, 2021]. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/girls-in-tech-receives-250-000-donation-from-facebook-301304565.html
- Goldberg, A. E., & Allen, K. R. (2015). Communicating Qualitative Research: Some Practical Guideposts for Scholars. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12153
- Good, C., Rattan, A., & Dweck, C. S. (2012). Why do women opt out? Sense of belonging and women's representation in mathematics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 102(4), 700–717. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026659
- Goodrich, K. M., Luke, M., & Smith, A. J. (2016). Queer Humanism: Toward an Epistemology of Socially Just, Culturally Responsive Change. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, *56*(6), 612–623. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167816652534
- Gordon, E. E. (2013). Future Jobs: Solving the Employment and Skills Crisis: Solving the Employment and Skills Crisis. ABC-CLIO.
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (2000). Paradigmatic Controversies, Contradictions, and Emerging Confluences. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 8.
- Guynn, J. (2020, July 20). Facebook diversity report: Efforts still failing Black and Hispanic employees, especially women. USA TODAY.
 - https://www.usatoday.com/story/tech/2020/07/15/facebook-diversity-african-american-black-hispanic-latino-employees/5430124002/

- Guyotte, K. W., Sochacka, N. W., Costantino, T. E., Walther, J., & Kellam, N. N. (2014). Steam as Social Practice: Cultivating Creativity in Transdisciplinary Spaces. *Art Education*, 67(6), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/00043125.2014.11519293
- Haase, J. E., & Myers, S. T. (1988). Reconciling Paradigm Assumptions of Qualitative and Quantitative Research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 10(2), 128–137. https://doi.org/10.1177/019394598801000202
- Hammond, A., Rubiano Matulevich, E., Beegle, K., & Kumaraswamy, S. K. (2020). *The Equality Equation: Advancing the Participation of Women and Girls in STEM*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/34317
- Han, S. W. (2016). National education systems and gender gaps in STEM occupational expectations. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 49, 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2016.03.004
- Hansen, D. S. (2020). Identifying Barriers to Career Progression for Women in Science: Is COVID-19 Creating New Challenges? *Trends in Parasitology*, *36*(10), 799–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2020.07.016
- Haq, R. (2013). Intersectionality of gender and other forms of identity: Dilemmas and challenges facing women in India. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 28(3), 171–184. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-01-2013-0010
- Harding, S. (1992). RETHINKING STANDPOINT EPISTEMOLOGY: WHAT IS "STRONG OBJECTIVITY?" *The Centennial Review*, *36*(3), 437–470. JSTOR.
- Haring, M. J. (1999). The Case for a Conceptual Base for Minority Mentoring Programs. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 74(2), 5–14.
- Haring-Hidore, M. (1987). Mentoring as a Career Enhancement Strategy for Women. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 66(3), 147–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1987.tb00822.x

- Harris, J. C., & Patton, L. D. (2019). Un/Doing Intersectionality through Higher Education Research. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 90(3), 347–372.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2018.1536936
- Hay-Gibson, N. V. (2009). Interviews via VoIP: Benefits and Disadvantages within a PhD study of SMEs. *Library and Information Research*, *33*(105), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.29173/lirg111
- Hays, D. G., & McKibben, W. B. (2021). Promoting Rigorous Research: Generalizability and Qualitative Research. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 99(2), 178–188.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12365
- Heasley, C. (2021). Heteronormativity and Gender Issues in Education: Representing Silent Voices through Radical Re-Imagination in Empirical Research. *Educational Studies*, *57*(3), 250–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2021.1892681
- Heather K Tillberg & J McGrath Cohoon. (2005). Attracting Women to the C. S. Major. *Frontiers* (Boulder), 26(1), 126–140.
- Henwood, F. (2000). From the Woman Question in Technology to the Technology Question in Feminism: Rethinking Gender Equality in IT Education. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 7(2), 209–227. https://doi.org/10.1177/135050680000700209
- Herschbach, D. R. (2011). The STEM Initiative: Constraints and Challenges. *Journal of STEM Teacher Education*, 48(1), 96–122.
- Herzig, A. H. (2010). Women Belonging in the Social Worlds of Graduate Mathematics. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*. https://doi.org/10.54870/1551-3440.1183
- Hill, C., Corbett, C., & St. Rose, A. (2010). Why so few? Women in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics. AAUW.

- Hobbs, B. (2022, July 25). FAANG: An acronym that stands for five very successful tech companies that can move the stock market. *Business Insider*.

 https://www.businessinsider.com/personal-finance/what-is-faang
- Hodari, A., Ong, M., Ko, L., & Kachchaf, R. (2014). New enactments of mentoring and activism:

 U.S. women of color in computing education and careers. 83–90.

 https://doi.org/10.1145/2632320.2632357
- Hooks, B. (1981). Ain't I a Woman: Black Women and Feminism. South End Press.
- Hughes, R. (1998). Considering the Vignette Technique and its Application to a Study of Drug
 Injecting and HIV Risk and Safer Behaviour. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 20(3), 381–400.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.00107
- Husain, F. Y. (2022). Investigating the Themes and Perceptions of the Formal and Informal STEM

 Education Programs, STEM Career Development, and their Connections to the Triple Helix

 Component in the UAE [Thesis, The British University in Dubai (BUiD)].

 https://bspace.buid.ac.ae/handle/1234/1989
- Igarashi, H., & Saito, H. (2014). Cosmopolitanism as Cultural Capital: Exploring the Intersection of Globalization, Education and Stratification. *Cultural Sociology*, 8(3), 222–239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1749975514523935
- imagiLabs. (n.d.). *imagiLabs—Learn to code on your phone and create your own accessory*.

 ImagiLabs. Retrieved January 11, 2022, from https://imagilabs.com/
- Ireland, D. T., Freeman, K. E., Winston-Proctor, C. E., DeLaine, K. D., McDonald Lowe, S., & Woodson, K. M. (2018). (Un)Hidden Figures: A Synthesis of Research Examining the Intersectional Experiences of Black Women and Girls in STEM Education. *Review of Research in Education*, 42(1), 226–254. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X18759072

- Jaekel, K. S., & Nicolazzo, Z. (2022). Institutional Commitments to Unknowing Gender: Trans* and Gender Non-Conforming Educators' Experiences in Higher Education. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 69(4), 632–654. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2020.1848146
- Jang, S. T. (2018). The Implications of Intersectionality on Southeast Asian Female Students' Educational Outcomes in the United States: A Critical Quantitative Intersectionality Analysis. *American Educational Research Journal*, *55*(6), 1268–1306. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218777225
- Janghorban, R., Roudsari, R. L., & Taghipour, A. (2014). Skype interviewing: The new generation of online synchronous interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *9*(1), 24152. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.24152
- Jeong, E., & Lee, J. (2018). We take the red pill, we confront the DickTrix: Online feminist activism and the augmentation of gendered realities in South Korea. *Feminist Media Studies*, 18(4), 705–717. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2018.1447354
- Jiang, C. L., & Gong, W. (2019). Understanding Single Womanhood in China: An Intersectional Perspective. In O. Hankivsky & J. S. Jordan-Zachery (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Intersectionality in Public Policy* (pp. 287–307). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-98473-5 12
- Johnson, S. R., Ivey, A., Snyder, J., Skorodinsky, M., & Goode, J. (2020). Intersectional Perspectives on Teaching: Women of Color, Equity, and Computer Science. 2020 Research on Equity and Sustained Participation in Engineering, Computing, and Technology (RESPECT), 1, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/RESPECT49803.2020.9272484
- Jr, D., & Sawyer III, D. (2014). Informing Higher Education Policy and Practice Through Intersectionality. *Journal of Progressive Policy and Practice*, 2.

- Kam, M., Ramachandran, D., Raghavan, A., Chiu, J., Sahni, U., & Canny, J. (n.d.). Practical Considerations for Participatory Design with Rural School Children in Underdeveloped Regions: Early Reflections from the Field. 8.
- Kamberidou, I., & Pascall, N. (2019). THE DIGITAL SKILLS CRISIS: ENGENDERING

 TECHNOLOGY–EMPOWERING WOMEN IN CYBERSPACE. European Journal of

 Social Sciences Studies, 0, Article 0. https://doi.org/10.46827/ejsss.v0i0.683
- Kamberidou, I., & Pascall, N. (2020). THE DIGITAL SKILLS CRISIS: ENGENDERING

 TECHNOLOGY-EMPOWERING WOMEN IN CYBERSPACE. 4, 1–33.

 https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3558799
- Kemp, P. E. J., Wong, B., & Berry, M. G. (2020). Female Performance and Participation in Computer Science. *ACM Trans. Comput. Educ.* https://doi.org/10.1145/3366016
- Kerkhoven, A. H., Russo, P., Land-Zandstra, A. M., Saxena, A., & Rodenburg, F. J. (2016).

 Gender Stereotypes in Science Education Resources: A Visual Content Analysis. *PLoS ONE*,

 11(11), e0165037–e0165037. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165037
- Kim, J. (2017). #iamafeminist as the "mother tag": Feminist identification and activism against misogyny on Twitter in South Korea. *Feminist Media Studies*, 17(5), 804–820. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2017.1283343
- Kim, J. (2021). The Resurgence and Popularization of Feminism in South Korea: Key Issues and Challenges for Contemporary Feminist Activism. *Korea Journal*, *61*, 75–101. https://doi.org/10.25024/kj.2021.61.4.75
- Kitada, M., & Harada, J. (2019). Progress or regress on gender equality: The case study of selected transport STEM careers and their vocational education and training in Japan. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, *1*, 100009.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2019.100009

- Kong, S. M., Carroll, K. M., Lundberg, D. J., Omura, P., Lepe, B. A., & more, S. M. K. K. M. C.
 D. J. L., and 2. (2020, August 8). *Reducing gender bias in STEM*. MIT Science Policy
 Review. https://sciencepolicyreview.org/2020/08/reducing-gender-bias-in-stem/
- Kos, B. A. (2019). An Autoethnography of T9Hacks: ``Designing a Welcoming Hackathon for Women and Non-Binary Students to Learn and Explore Computing.

 https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/An-Autoethnography-of-T9Hacks%3A-%60%60Designing-a-for-to-Kos/a8f38c8f2056499c63a992609a21fbe31bb8eb47
- Lambert, S. D., & Loiselle, C. G. (2008). Combining individual interviews and focus groups to enhance data richness. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(2), 228–237. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04559.x
- Leaper, C., & Brown, C. S. (2008). Perceived Experiences With Sexism Among Adolescent Girls.

 Child Development, 79(3), 685–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01151.x
- Lehman, K. J., Sax, L. J., & Zimmerman, H. B. (2016). Women planning to major in computer science: Who are they and what makes them unique? *Computer Science Education*, 26(4), 277–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2016.1271536
- Lewis Ellison, T., Robinson, B., & Qiu, T. (2020). Examining African American Girls' Literate Intersectional Identities Through Journal Entries and Discussions About STEM. *Written Communication*, *37*(1), 3–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741088319880511
- Li, W., & Chiang, F.-K. (2019). Preservice Teachers' Perceptions of STEAM Education and Attitudes Toward STEAM Disciplines and Careers in China. In P. Sengupta, M.-C. Shanahan, & B. Kim (Eds.), *Critical, Transdisciplinary and Embodied Approaches in STEM Education* (pp. 83–100). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29489-2_5
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.

- Lockwood, P. (2006). "Someone Like Me can be Successful": Do College Students Need Same-Gender Role Models? *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 30(1), 36–46.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2006.00260.x
- Lorde, A. (1984). Sister outsider (republished in 2019). Penguin Books.
- Luft, R. E., & Ward, J. (2009). Toward an intersectionality just out of reach: Confronting challenges to intersectional practice. In V. Demos & M. Texler Segal (Eds.), *Perceiving Gender Locally, Globally, and Intersectionally* (Vol. 13, pp. 9–37). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1529-2126(2009)0000013005
- Lv, M., Zhang, H., Georgescu, P., Li, T., & Zhang, B. (2022). Improving Education for Innovation and Entrepreneurship in Chinese Technical Universities: A Quest for Building a Sustainable Framework. *Sustainability*, *14*(2), 595. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14020595
- Mackey, A., & Petrucka, P. (2021). Technology as the key to women's empowerment: A scoping review. *BMC Women's Health*, 21(1), 78. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-021-01225-4
- Madill, A. (2011). Interaction in the Semi-Structured Interview: A Comparative Analysis of the Use of and Response to Indirect Complaints. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 8(4), 333–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880903521633
- Mahler, S. J., & Pessar, P. R. (2001). Gendered Geographies of Power: Analyzing Gender Across

 Transnational Spaces. *Identities*, 7(4), 441–459.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1070289X.2001.9962675
- Majoko, T. (2019). Teacher Key Competencies for Inclusive Education: Tapping Pragmatic Realities of Zimbabwean Special Needs Education Teachers. *SAGE Open*, *9*(1), 2158244018823455. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018823455
- Malhotra, P., & Ling, R. (2020). Agency Within Contextual Constraints: Mobile Phone Use Among Female Live-Out Domestic Workers in Delhi. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 16(0), 15.

- Manyika, J. (2017). *Technology, jobs, and the future of work* | *McKinsey*. McKinsey Global Institute. https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/employment-and-growth/technology-jobs-and-the-future-of-work
- Marginson, S., Tytler, R., Gaukroger, S., & Hind, D. (2013). STEM: Country comparisons: international comparisons of science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) education. Australian Council of Learned Academies.
- Margolis, J., & Fisher, A. (2002). Unlocking the clubhouse: Women in computing. The MIT Press.
- Maric, J. (2018). The gender-based digital divide in maker culture: Features, challenges and possible solutions. *Journal of Innovation Economics & Management*, 27(3), 147–168. https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.027.0147
- Martinez Dy, A., Martin, L., & Marlow, S. (2014). Developing a Critical Realist Positional Approach to Intersectionality. *Journal of Critical Realism*, *13*(5), 447–466. https://doi.org/10.1179/1476743014Z.000000000043
- Marzolla, M., & Mirandola, R. (2019). Gender Balance in Computer Science and Engineering in Italian Universities. *Proceedings of the 13th European Conference on Software*Architecture ECSA '19 Volume 2, 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1145/3344948.3344966
- Mattheis, A. (2018). Understanding the Impact of Personal Identities on Productivity in the Geosciences: Lessons from research on Gender and Sexual Diversity in STEM. 2018, ED41B-05.
- Mavriplis, C., Heller, R., Beil, C., Dam, K., Yassinskaya, N., Shaw, M., & Sorensen, C. (2010).

 Mind the Gap: Women in STEM Career Breaks. *Journal of Technology Management & Amp; Innovation*, 5(1), 140–151. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-27242010000100011
- Maxey, K. R., & Hynes, M. M. (2021, January 24). A Reflective Evaluation of a Pre-College Engineering Curriculum to Promote Inclusion in Informal Learning Environments.

- https://peer.asee.org/a-reflective-evaluation-of-a-pre-college-engineering-curriculum-to-promote-inclusion-in-informal-learning-environments
- McCall, L. (2005). The Complexity of Intersectionality. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 30(3), 1771–1800. https://doi.org/10.1086/426800
- McCann, E., Donohue, G., & Brown, M. (2021). Experiences and Perceptions of Trans and Gender Non-Binary People Regarding Their Psychosocial Support Needs: A Systematic Review of the Qualitative Research Evidence. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(7), 3403. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18073403
- McLeish, K. N., & Oxoby, R. J. (2011). Social interactions and the salience of social identity.

 *Journal of Economic Psychology, 32(1), 172–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2010.11.003
- Mcmaster, N. C., & Cook, R. (2019). The contribution of intersectionality to quantitative research into educational inequalities. *Review of Education*, 7(2), 271–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3116
- McPherson, E. (2014). Informal learning in SME majors for African American female undergraduates. *Global Education Review*, *I*(4), Article 4. https://ger.mercy.edu/index.php/ger/article/view/30
- Mehrotra, G. (2010). Toward a Continuum of Intersectionality Theorizing for Feminist Social Work Scholarship. *Affilia*, 25(4), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109910384190
- Merton, R. K. (1979). The Sociology of Science: Theoretical and Empirical Investigations (N. W. Storer, Ed.). University of Chicago Press.
 https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/chicago/S/bo28451565.html
- Metcalf, H. (2010). Stuck in the Pipeline: A Critical Review of STEM Workforce Literature.

 *InterActions: UCLA Journal of Education and Information Studies, 6(2).

 https://doi.org/10.5070/D462000681

- Miles, M. B. (1990). New methods for qualitative data collection and analysis: Vignettes and prestructured cases. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, *3*(1), 37–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/0951839900030104
- Miles, M. L., Agger, C. A., Roby, R. S., & Morton, T. R. (2022). Who's who: How "women of color" are (or are not) represented in STEM education research. *Science Education*, 106(2), 229–256. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21694
- Miller, B. (2017). Navigating STEM: Afro Caribbean women overcoming barriers of gender and race. *Undefined*.
 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2020/651042/IPOL_STU(2020)6510
 42 EN.pdf
- Miller, R. A., & Downey, M. (2020). Examining the STEM Climate for Queer Students with Disabilities. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, *33*(2), 169–181.
- Miralles-Cardona, C., Kitta, I., Cardona Moltó, M. C., Gómez-Puerta, M., & Chiner, E. (2021).

 STEM students' perceptions of self-efficacy for a gender equality practice: A cross-cultural study. Octaedro. http://rua.ua.es/dspace/handle/10045/119350
- Mirza, H. S. (2009). Plotting a history: Black and postcolonial feminisms in 'new times.' *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 12(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613320802650899
- Mirza, H. S. (2013). 'A second skin': Embodied intersectionality, transnationalism and narratives of identity and belonging among Muslim women in Britain. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *36*, 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2012.10.012
- Mooney, C., & Becker, B. A. (2020). Sense of Belonging: The Intersectionality of Self-Identified
 Minority Status and Gender in Undergraduate Computer Science Students. *United Kingdom* & Ireland Computing Education Research Conference., 24–30.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/3416465.3416476

- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Dovidio, J. F., Brescoll, V. L., Graham, M. J., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Science faculty's subtle gender biases favor male students. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(41), 16474–16479. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211286109
- Murphy, M. C., Steele, C. M., & Garcia, J. A. (2018). The Fragility of Fit: Cues Affect theConcerns, Belonging, and Performance of Women and Men in STEM Settings. *In Review for the Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*.
- Mustafa, N., Ismail, Z., Tasir, Z., & Mohamad Said, M. N. H. (2016). A Meta-Analysis on Effective Strategies for Integrated STEM Education. *Advanced Science Letters*, 22(12), 4225–4228. https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2016.8111
- Myers, K. R., Tham, W. Y., Yin, Y., Cohodes, N., Thursby, J. G., Thursby, M. C., Schiffer, P., Walsh, J. T., Lakhani, K. R., & Wang, D. (2020). Unequal effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on scientists. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *4*(9), 880–883. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0921-y
- Nash, J. C. (2017). Intersectionality and Its Discontents. *American Quarterly*, 69(1), 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1353/aq.2017.0006
- National Science Foundation. (2013). *Table 5-3. Bachelor's degrees awarded, by field, citizenship, and race/ethnicity: 2001–10 [Data Table]*.

 http://nsf.gov/statistics/wmpd/2013/tables.cfm
- National Science Foundation U.S. (2011). Women, Minorities, and Persons with Disabilities in Science and Engineering: 2021 | NSF National Science Foundation. National Science Foundation. https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf21321/report
- Nespor, J. (2000). Anonymity and Place in Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *6*(4), 546–569. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780040000600408

- Niler, A. A., Asencio, R., & DeChurch, L. A. (2019). Solidarity in STEM: How Gender Composition Affects Women's Experience in Work Teams. Sex Roles.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/S11199-019-01046-8
- Noble, S. U. (2018). *Algorithms of oppression: How search engines reinforce racism*. New York university press.
- Noy, C. (2008). Sampling Knowledge: The Hermeneutics of Snowball Sampling in Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *11*(4), 327–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570701401305
- Nugent, G., Barker, B., Welch, G., Grandgenett, N., Wu, C., & Nelson, C. (2015). A Model of Factors Contributing to STEM Learning and Career Orientation. *International Journal of Science Education*, *37*(7), 1067–1088. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2015.1017863
- O'Brien, L. T., Blodorn, A., Adams, G., Garcia, D. M., & Hammer, E. (2015). Ethnic variation in gender-STEM stereotypes and STEM participation: An intersectional approach. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 21(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037944
- O'Connor, H., Madge, C., Shaw, R., & Wellens, J. (2008). *The SAGE Handbook of Online Research Methods* (By pages 271-289). SAGE Publications, Ltd.

 https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857020055
- OECD. (2015). The ABC of Gender Equality in Education: Aptitude, Behaviour, Confidence.

 OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264229945-en
- OECD. (2020). Women at the core of the fight against COVID-19 crisis—OECD.

 https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=127_127000-awfnqj80me&title=Women-at-the-core-of-the-fight-against-COVID-19-crisis
- OECD, O. for E. C. and D. (2010). *The High Cost of Low Educational Performance*. OECD Publishing.

- Ogan, C. L. (2004). Unlocking the Clubhouse: Women in Computing, by Jane Margolis and Allan Fisher. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2002. viii + 172 pp. \$24.95. ISBN 0-262-13398-9. *The Information Society*, 20(1), 75–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/01972240490270094
- Okoroigwe, E. C., Agbasi, I. S., Okoroigwe, F. C., & Okoroigwe, C. N. (2022, April 5).

 University-Industry Linkages: The Gateway for Accelerating National Development in Africa.
- Olive, J. L., Davis, D. J., & Brunn-Bevel, R. J. (2015). *Intersectionality in Educational Research*. Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Ong, M., Wright, C., Espinosa, L., & Orfield, G. (2011). Inside the Double Bind: A Synthesis of Empirical Research on Undergraduate and Graduate Women of Color in Science,

 Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics. *Harvard Educational Review*, 81(2), 172–209.

 https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.81.2.t022245n7x4752v2
- OWSD. (2020). OWSD responds to COVID-19: Stories from women scientists in the developing world | OWSD. https://owsd.net/news/news-events/owsd-responds-covid-19-stories-women-scientists-developing-world
- Ozkaleli, U. (2018). Intersectionality in Gender Mainstreaming: Equity Organizing in Turkey.

 Journal of Women, Politics & Policy, 39(2), 127–150.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1554477X.2018.1449524
- Padayachee, A. S., Khanare, F. P., Louw, D. C., & Gcelu, N. (2022). An Intersectionality
 Perspective on Rural Adolescent Access to Digital Technology in South Africa: In S. Malik,
 R. Bansal, & A. K. Tyagi (Eds.), *Advances in Human and Social Aspects of Technology* (pp. 35–50). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-8318-0.ch004
- Paganini, L., Ferraz, C., Gama, K., & Alves, C. (2021). Promoting Game Jams and Hackathons as more Women-Inclusive Environments for Informal Learning. 2021 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE49875.2021.9637301

- Pascall, A. N. (2012). Endangering technology empowering women: Proefschrift: ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan Tilburg University op gezag van der rector magnificus, prof. dr. Ph. Eijlander, in het openbaar te verdedigen ten overstaan van een door het college voor promoties aangewezen commissie in de aula van de Universiteit op maandag 19 november 2012 om 14.15 uur.
- Pascarella, E. T., Wolniak, G. C., Seifert, T. A. D., Cruce, T. M., & Blaich, C. F. (2005). Liberal Arts Colleges and Liberal Arts Education: New Evidence on Impacts. ASHE Higher Education Report, Volume 31, Number 3. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, 31(3), 1–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.3103
- Patterson, L., Varadarajan, D. S., & Saji Salim, B. (2020). Women in STEM/SET: Gender gap research review of the United Arab Emirates (UAE) a meta-analysis. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, *36*(8), 881–911. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-11-2019-0201
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods, 2nd ed* (p. 532). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Pei, X., Chib, A., & Ling, R. (2021). Covert resistance beyond #Metoo: Mobile practices of marginalized migrant women to negotiate sexual harassment in the workplace. *Information, Communication & Society*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2021.1874036
- Peixoto, A., González, C. S. G., Strachan, R., Plaza, P., de los Angeles Martinez, M., Blazquez, M., & Castro, M. (2018). Diversity and inclusion in engineering education: Looking through the gender question. 2018 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), 2071–2075. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON.2018.8363494
- Peña, M., Olmedo-Torre, N., Mas de les Valls, E., & Lusa, A. (2021). Introducing and Evaluating the Effective Inclusion of Gender Dimension in STEM Higher Education. *Sustainability*, 13(9), 4994. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13094994

- Pereira, A. C., & Romero, F. (2017). A review of the meanings and the implications of the Industry 4.0 concept. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *13*, 1206–1214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.09.032
- Perez-Felkner, L. (2018). Conceptualizing the Field: Higher Education Research on the STEM Gender Gap. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 2018(179), 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20273
- Peter, K., & Horn, L. (n.d.). Gender Differences in Participation and Completion of Undergraduate Education and How They Have Changed Over Time. 89.
- Petrucci, L. (2020). Theorizing postfeminist communities: How gender-inclusive meetups address gender inequity in high-tech industries. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 27(4), 545–564. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12440
- Piatek-Jimenez, K., Cribbs, J., & Gill, N. (2018). College students' perceptions of gender stereotypes: Making connections to the underrepresentation of women in STEM fields. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(12), 1432–1454.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1482027
- Pitt, C. R., Bell, A., Strickman, R., & Davis, K. (2019). Supporting learners' STEM-oriented career pathways with digital badges. *Information and Learning Sciences*, *120*(1/2), 87–107. https://doi.org/10.1108/ILS-06-2018-0050
- Plaza, P., Castro, M., Merino, J., Restivo, T., Peixoto, A., Gonzalez, C., Menacho, A., Garcia-Loro, F., Sancristobal, E., Blazquez, M., Diaz, P., Plaza, I., Fondon, I., Sarmiento, A., Civantos, I., Fernandez, C., Lord, S., Rover, D., Chan, R., ... Strachan, R. (2020).

 Educational Robotics for All: Gender, Diversity, and Inclusion in STEAM. 2020 IEEE Learning With MOOCS (LWMOOCS), 19–24.

https://doi.org/10.1109/LWMOOCS50143.2020.9234372

PORTIA. (2021). Portia: About Us. https://portiaweb.org.uk/about.html

- PWC. (2017). Women in tech: Time to close the gender gap. PricewaterhouseCoopers.

 https://www.pwc.co.uk/who-we-are/women-in-technology/time-to-close-the-gender-gap.html
- Quartz, S. K. (2015, May 14). *Is America Failing Its Children by Not Teaching Code in Every High School?* The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2015/05/the-economic-importance-of-teaching-coding-to-teens/393263/
- Rainey, K., Dancy, M., Mickelson, R., Stearns, E., & Moller, S. (2018). Race and gender differences in how sense of belonging influences decisions to major in STEM. *International Journal of STEM Education*, *5*(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-018-0115-6
- Rettie, R., Robinson, H., Radke, A., & Ye, X. (2008). CAQDAS: A supplementary tool for qualitative market research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 11(1), 76–88. https://doi.org/10.1108/13522750810845568
- Reuben, E., Sapienza, P., & Zingales, L. (2014). How stereotypes impair women's careers in science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(12), 4403–4408. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314788111
- Riano, Y., Limacher, K., Aschwanden, A., Hirsig, S., & Wastl-Walter, D. (2015). Shaping gender inequalities: Critical moments and critical places. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 34(2), 155–167. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-12-2013-0112
- Rizvi, S. (2019). Using fiction to reveal truth: Challenges of using vignettes to understand participant experiences within qualitative research. *Forum Qualitative Social forschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(1), 10–28.
- Ro, H. K., Fernandez, F., & Ramon, E. J. (Eds.). (2021). Gender Equity in STEM in Higher

 Education: International Perspectives on Policy, Institutional Culture, and Individual Choice

 (Edition 1). https://directory.doabooks.org/handle/20.500.12854/71376

- Ro, H. K., & Loya, K. I. (2015). The Effect of Gender and Race Intersectionality on Student Learning Outcomes In Engineering. *The Review of Higher Education*, *38*(3), 359–396. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2015.0014
- Robnett, R. D. (2016). Gender Bias in STEM Fields: Variation in Prevalence and Links to STEM Self-Concept. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(1), 65–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684315596162
- Rosser, S. V. (Ed.). (1995). *Teaching the majority: Breaking the gender barrier in science, mathematics, and engineering.* Teachers College Press.
- Rushton, E. A. C., & King, H. (2020). Play as a pedagogical vehicle for supporting gender inclusive engagement in informal STEM education. *International Journal of Science Education*, *Part B*, *10*(4), 376–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/21548455.2020.1853270
- Rykers, K. (2016). The impact of diversity, bias and stereotype: Expanding the Medical Physics and Engineering STEM workforce. *Australasian Physical & Engineering Sciences in Medicine*, 39(3), 593–600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13246-016-0473-7
- Saguy, T., Reifen-Tagar, M., & Joel, D. (2021). The gender-binary cycle: The perpetual relations between a biological-essentialist view of gender, gender ideology, and gender-labelling and sorting. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *376*(1822), 20200141. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2020.0141
- Saito, H. I., Hiro. (2014). Cosmopolitanism as Cultural Capital: Exploring the Intersection of Globalization, Education and Stratification Hiroki Igarashi, Hiro Saito, 2014. *Cultural Sociology*. https://ezproxy-prd.bodleian.ox.ac.uk:2246/doi/full/10.1177/1749975514523935
- Saldana, J. (2015). *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers Third Edition* (Third edition). SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Saleem, M., Prot, S., Anderson, C. A., & Lemieux, A. F. (2017). Exposure to Muslims in Media and Support for Public Policies Harming Muslims. *Communication Research*, *44*(6), 841–869. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215619214
- Sandberg, S. (2013). Lean in: Women, work, and the will to lead (First edition). Alfred A. Knopf.
- Sandler, B. R., & Hall, R. M. (1986). *The Campus Climate Revisited: Chilly for Women Faculty, Administrators, and Graduate Students*. Association of American Colleges, Project on the

 Status and Education of Women, 1818 R Street, NW, Washington, DC 20009 (\$5.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED282462
- Santillan-Rosas, I. M., & Heredia-Escorza, Y. (2020). Empowering women's digital literacy with transformative learning: Reducing the gap in the T of STEM. *Eighth International Conference on Technological Ecosystems for Enhancing Multiculturality*, 182–186.

 https://doi.org/10.1145/3434780.3436684
- Savchuk, K. (2019, September 17). *Do Investors Really Care About Gender Diversity?* Stanford Graduate School of Business. https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/insights/do-investors-really-care-about-gender-diversity
- Sax, L. J., Lehman, K. J., Jacobs, J. A., Kanny, M. A., Lim, G., Monje-Paulson, L., & Zimmerman, H. B. (2017). Anatomy of an Enduring Gender Gap: The Evolution of Women's Participation in Computer Science. *The Journal of Higher Education (Columbus)*, 88(2), 258–293. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2016.1257306
- Schwab, K. (2017). *The Fourth Industrial Revolution*.

 http://www.vlebooks.com/vleweb/product/openreader?id=none&isbn=9780241980538
- Schwab, K., Crotti, R., Geiger, T., Ratcheva, V., & World Economic Forum. (2019). *Global gender gap report 2020 insight report*. World Economic Forum.

- Segovia-Pérez, M., Castro Núñez, R. B., Santero Sánchez, R., & Laguna Sánchez, P. (2020).

 Being a woman in an ICT job: An analysis of the gender pay gap and discrimination in Spain.

 New Technology, Work and Employment, 35(1), 20–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/ntwe.12145
- Selwyn, N. (2013). Education in a digital world: Global perspectives on technology and education. Routledge.
- Shields, S. A. (2008). Gender: An Intersectionality Perspective. *Sex Roles*, *59*(5), 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9501-8
- Sinclair, S., Nilsson, A., & Cederskär, E. (2019). Explaining gender-typed educational choice in adolescence: The role of social identity, self-concept, goals, grades, and interests. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 110, 54–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.11.007
- Singh, K., Allen, K. R., Scheckler, R., & Darlington, L. (2007). Women in Computer-Related Majors: A Critical Synthesis of Research and Theory From 1994 to 2005. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(4), 500–533. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654307309919
- Skilling, K., & Stylianides, G. J. (2020). Using vignettes in educational research: A framework for vignette construction. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 43(5), 541–556. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2019.1704243
- Slaton, A. E. (2013). *Body? What Body? Considering Ability and Disability in STEM Disciplines*. 23.247.1-23.247.16. https://peer.asee.org/body-what-body-considering-ability-and-disability-in-stem-disciplines
- Smooth, W. G. (2013). Intersectionality from Theoretical Framework to Policy Intervention. In A. R. Wilson (Ed.), *Situating Intersectionality: Politics, Policy, and Power* (pp. 11–41). Palgrave Macmillan US. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137025135 2
- Solanki, S. M., & Xu, D. (2018). Looking Beyond Academic Performance: The Influence of Instructor Gender on Student Motivation in STEM Fields. *American Educational Research Journal*, *55*(4), 801–835. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218759034

- Somekh, B. (2006). Action Research: A Methodology for Change and Development.
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T.-A. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*(2), 218–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2014.902292
- Spencer, J. D., Penny Furness, Diarmuid Verrier, Henry Lennon, Cinnamon Bennett, Stephen.

 (2017). Desert island data: An investigation into researcher positionality Jon Dean, Penny Furness, Diarmuid Verrier, Henry Lennon, Cinnamon Bennett, Stephen Spencer, 2018.

 Qualitative Research. https://ezproxy-prd.bodleian.ox.ac.uk:2246/doi/10.1177/1468794117714612
- Stake, R., & Trumbull, D. (1982). Stake, Robert E., and Deborah J. Trumbull, "Naturalistic Generalizations," Review Journal of Philosophy and Social Science, 7(Nos. 1 & 2, 1982), 1-12.*. CIRS: Curriculum Inquiry and Related Studies from Educational Research: A Searchable Bibliography of Selected Studies. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/cirs/1509
- Staples, J. M., Bird, E. R., Masters, T. N., & George, W. H. (2018). Considerations for Culturally Sensitive Research With Transgender Adults: A Qualitative Analysis. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *55*(8), 1065–1076. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2017.1292419
- Stout, J., Dasgupta, N., Hunsinger, M., & Mcmanus, M. A. (2011). STEMing the tide: Using ingroup experts to inoculate women's self-concept in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM). *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021385
- Sultan, U. N., Axell, C., & Hallström, J. (2019). Girls' engagement with technology education: A scoping review of the literature. *Design and Technology Education: An International Journal*, 24(2), 20–41.

- Swoboda, M. J., & Millar, S. B. (1986). Networking-Mentoring: Career Strategy of Women in Academic Administration. *Journal of the National Association of Women Deans*, *Administrators, and Counselors*, 50(1), 8–13.
- Tao, Y. (2018). Earnings of Academic Scientists and Engineers: Intersectionality of Gender and Race/Ethnicity Effects. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(5), 625–644.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218768870
- Tas, E. M. (2011). ICT education for development—A case study. *Procedia Computer Science*, *3*, 507–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2010.12.085
- Tefera, C. D. M. S., David I. Hernández Saca, Adai A. (2017). Intersectional Rights of Teachers and Students in Computer Science and Special Education: Implications for Urban Schooling Cueponcaxochitl D. Moreno Sandoval, David I. Hernández Saca, Adai A. Tefera, 2021.

 Urban Education. https://ezproxy-prd.bodleian.ox.ac.uk:2246/doi/full/10.1177/0042085917714512
- Terman, R. (2017). Islamophobia and Media Portrayals of Muslim Women: A Computational Text Analysis of US News Coverage. *International Studies Quarterly*, 61(3), 489–502. https://doi.org/10.1093/isq/sqx051
- Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic Analysis. In C. Willig & W. S. Rogers (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology* (pp. 17–36). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526405555
- The Expert Women Project. (2020, May 4). *Male experts on UK news programmes peak during March 2020 | City, University of London*. https://www.city.ac.uk/news-and-events/news/2020/05/male-experts-on-uk-news-programmes-peak-during-march-2020
- The World Bank. (2020). *Share of graduates by field, female (%)*. World Bank Gender Data Portal. https://genderdata.worldbank.org/indicators/se-ter-grad-fe-zs/

- Tildesley, R., Lombardo, E., & Verge, T. (2021). Power Struggles in the Implementation of Gender Equality Policies: The Politics of Resistance and Counter-resistance in Universities.

 Politics & Gender, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X21000167
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative Quality: Eight "Big-Tent" Criteria for Excellent Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16(10), 837–851. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410383121
- UNESCO. (2015a). UNESCO science report: Towards 2030 (F. Schlegel, Ed.). UNESCO Publ.
- UNESCO. (2016). Closing the gender gap in STEM: drawing more girls and women into science, technology, engineering and mathematics—UNESCO Digital Library. UNESCO Office

 Bangkok and Regional Bureau for Education in Asia and the Pacific.

 https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245717
- UNESCO. (2017). Cracking the code girls' and women's education in science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM). Unesco.
- UNESCO. UNESCO science report: The race against time for smarter development.
- UNESCO, I. for S. (2015b). Women in science: Quarterly thematic publication, issue I, March 2015—UNESCO Digital Library. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000235155
- US Census Bureau. (2017). 2017 National Population Projections Tables: Main Series.

 Census.Gov. https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2017/demo/popproj/2017-summary-tables.html
- Valentine, G. (2007). Theorizing and Researching Intersectionality: A Challenge for Feminist Geography*. *The Professional Geographer*, *59*(1), 10–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9272.2007.00587.x
- Varma, R. (2010). Why so few women enroll in computing? Gender and ethnic differences in students' perception. *Computer Science Education*, 20(4), 301–316. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2010.527697

- Viglione, G. (2020). Are women publishing less during the pandemic? Here's what the data say.

 Nature, 581(7809), 365–366. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-01294-9
- Vitores, A., & Gil-Juárez, A. (2016). The trouble with 'women in computing': A critical examination of the deployment of research on the gender gap in computer science. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 25(6), 666–680. https://doi.org/10.1080/09589236.2015.1087309
- Walt, P. S. D., & Barker, N. (2020). Pedagogical intersectionality: Exploring content, technology, and student-centered learning through a problem based/project based approach. *Educational Media International*, *57*(1), 29–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2020.1744847
- Wang, M. T., & Degol, J. (2013). Motivational Pathways to STEM Career Choices: Using Expectancy-Value Perspective to Understand Individual and Gender Differences in STEM Fields. *Developmental Review : DR*, 33(4), 10.1016/j.dr.2013.08.001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2013.08.001
- Wang, S., Liu, X., & Zhao, Y. (2012). Opportunities to Learn in School and at Home: How can they predict students' understanding of basic science concepts and principles? *International Journal of Science Education*, 34(13), 2061–2088.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2012.709335
- Watermeyer, R. (2012). Confirming the legitimacy of female participation in science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM): Evaluation of a UK STEM initiative for girls. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 33(5), 679–700.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2012.678751
- Webster, F. (2014). Theories of the information society (Fourth ed). Routledge.
- Weisgram, E. S., & Bigler, R. S. (2007). Effects of Learning about Gender Discrimination on Adolescent Girls' Attitudes Toward and Interest in Science. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 31(3), 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2007.00369.x

- White, S. K. (2021, February 4). How top tech companies are addressing diversity and inclusion.

 CIO. https://www.cio.com/article/193856/how-top-tech-companies-are-addressing-diversity-and-inclusion.html
- Wilkins-Yel, K. G., Hyman, J., & Zounlome, N. O. O. (2019). Linking intersectional invisibility and hypervisibility to experiences of microaggressions among graduate women of color in STEM. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 113, 51–61.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.018
- Williamson, B., Bergviken Rensfeldt, A., Player-Koro, C., & Selwyn, N. (2019). Education recoded: Policy mobilities in the international 'learning to code' agenda. *Journal of Education Policy*, *34*(5), 705–725. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2018.1476735
- World Economic Forum. (2018). The global gender gap report 2018. World Economic Forum.
- Xu, C., & Lastrapes, R. E. (2021). Impact of STEM Sense of Belonging on Career Interest: The Role of STEM Attitudes. *Journal of Career Development*, 08948453211033025. https://doi.org/10.1177/08948453211033025
- Yamaguchi, R., & Burge, J. D. (2019). Intersectionality in the narratives of black women in computing through the education and workforce pipeline. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, *13*(3), 215–235. https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-07-2018-0042
- Yang, Y., & Liu, X. (2021). Reporting Strategy and Gender Perspective in Chinese Media

 Coverage of COVID-19 News. *Journalism and Media*, 2(3), 351–360.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/journalmedia2030021
- Zhang, M., & Chen, S. (2022). Modeling dichotomous technology use among university EFL teachers in China: The roles of TPACK, affective and evaluative attitudes towards technology. *Cogent Education*, *9*(1), 2013396.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2021.2013396

Zheng, Y., & Walsham, G. (2021). Inequality of what? An intersectional approach to digital inequality under Covid-19. *Information and Organization*, 31(1), 100341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2021.100341

Ziegler, A., & Stoeger, H. (2004). Evaluation of an attributional retraining (modeling technique) to reduce gender differences in chemistry instruction. *High Ability Studies*, *15*(1), 63–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359813042000225348

Appendix A

Interview Schedule

Warm up

- Ask for permission to record. Pseudonym. Pronouns
- Should I wish to include data from our interviews, I will come back with a discussion of how data, especially direct quotes from you
- Introduce myself and the project
 - o investigate how gender inclusion educational technology programs are perceived and experienced by learners and leaders of gender inclusion for tech programs. Building on past literature on the topic, this study specifically explores how different aspects of women's identities affect their experiences of gender inclusion for Tech education programs from a range of international contexts.
 - I'll be taking some notes, hence the typing sound, during our 30min convo, but my attention is fully on you.
- Introduce yourself?
 - Outposite of the control of the c
 - LEARNERS: First exposure to STEM, what you are doing currently
 - Organizers: how you came into the field, your current role

Interview questions

Current Learners (RQ1+2)

- Why did you apply to this program/Why did you join this group?
- What are your academic/career goals when you graduate?
- What did you hope to gain from joining the program? For instance, any skills, attributes, or networks?
- Comparing with your courses in STEM, are there things about this program that you felt like was critical and was missing from the formal curriculum?
- Do you feel that you have developed these skills you were looking to develop? Examples?
- How do you feel as a woman going into STEM? Do you feel sufficiently supported?
- Do you feel that you are going to face any challenges?

• Ask for anyone they know??

Past Learners (RQ1+2)

- Tell me a bit about yourself? (e.g. education and cultural background, what you are currently doing.)
- What gender inclusion for tech programs were you involved in ? And what contexts?
- Were there a lot of people in these programs that you really identified with?
- Why did you apply to this program/Why did you join this group?
- What did you think you gained from the program? (skills, attributes, and communities, networks)
- Comparing with your courses in STEM, are there things about this program that you felt like was critical and was missing from the formal curriculum?
- How do you feel about the extent to which the experiences/skills you gained from the program are contributing to your present? (mixed/positive/negative)
- How do you feel about this framing of 'women in STEM'? This can be positve, negative, or both?

Project leaders (RQ3)

- How does the organization want to be identified?
 - o Name
 - o Description of the organization
- What challenges are your program trying to address?
- What is your end goal?
- How did you structure their programs to resolve the issues and achieve the desired outcomes?
- How are you measuring the impact of your project?
- Role of commercial partners
- What are the biggest barriers you face in the process?
- What is the future of the organization? (ties into the evolution of these organizations, the overall policy agenda)

Appendix B

CUREC

2. Department or Institute

SECTION A: Filter for CUREC 2 application		
This section determines whether the application for ethics review should be methis form (CUREC 1A) or the CUREC 2 form (for research with more comples issues).		
Please indicate with an 'X'.	Yes	No
1. Does the research involve the <u>deception</u> of participants?		\boxtimes
 2. Are the research participants <u>vulnerable</u> in the context of the research, or classed as <u>people whose ability to give free and informed consent is in question</u>? For example, Participants aged 16 or under (also answer question A5); Participants aged 16 – 18 (refer to <u>competent youths</u> for guidance); adults at risk; 	r 🗆	
Note the University's <u>Safeguarding Guidance and Code of Practice</u> and its implications for researchers involving young people or adults at risk.		
3. By taking part in the research, will participants be at risk of criminal prosecution or significant harm?		\boxtimes
4. Does your research raise issues relevant to the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act (the Prevent Duty), which seeks to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism? Best Practice Guidance 07 on the Prevent Duty provides further guidance.		\boxtimes
If you answered 'No' to all the questions above, go to Section B. If you answer any question above, continue to question 5 below.	ered 'Yes	s' to
5. Is your project covered by a CUREC <u>Approved Procedure</u> ?		
If yes, list the CUREC Approved Procedure(s) you will follow		
If you have answered 'No' to all questions 1-4, go on to Section B. If you are to ANY of questions 1-4, and answered 'No' to question 5, stop completing do not submit it for ethical review. You will instead need to submit a <u>CUREC form</u> . If you answered 'Yes' to any of questions 1-4, and your project is completed Procedure, go on to Section B. If more than one Approved Procedure the SSH IDREC or your DREC for advice on whether a CUREC 2 for submitted instead.	this form 2 applications covered becomes applications	n and cation by an plies,
SECTION B: Researchers		
Name of <u>Principal Investigator</u> or student's supervisor		

Department of Education

3.	University of Oxford email address			
res	Copy and paste the following six rows as necessary to complete for each additional researcher who will be involved in this study, including student(s) and those external to the University.			
4.	Name of researcher or student			
5.	Department or Institute	Department of Education		
6.	University of Oxford email address			
7.	Role in research	Student researcher		
8.	Degree programme, if student research	MSc Education: Digital and Social Change		
Th	e whole research team			
9.	Have the researchers undertaken research training?	h ethics and integrity	Yes ⊠	No 🗆
10	. Please provide details of any research ethics and integrity training undertaken, including the dates of the training. Alternatively state relevant research experience.	n, I have also undertaken the Foundations of Education Research and Perspectives and Debates in Qualitative Research modules at the Department of Education, both of which have included content relating to conducting ethical research.		es and dules at f which
11	. State any <u>conflicts of interest</u> and explain how these will be addressed.	None		

SF	ECTION C: The research project			
1.	1. Title of the research project			
Pe	rceptions and Experiences of Gender Inclu	sion Ed-Tech Programs		
2.	Anticipated start date of the aspect of the research project involving human participants and/ or personal data (dd/mm/yy).	April 2022, or once ethics approval is obtained.		
3.	Anticipated research end date (dd/mm/yy).	31/05/2022		
4.	Provide a brief lay summary of the aims a cover the questions it will answer and an	and objectives of the research. This should y potential benefits. (max 300 words)		

This research aims to explore two questions: Given the number of well-funded gender inclusion for Tech programs, how are they being experienced by learners? Additionally, to what extent do project leaders feel like the goal of gender inclusion in Tech is being achieved?

Interviews with current learners will cover topics such as future directions after the program, self-perception before and after the participation of the program, etc. Interviews with graduated learners/industry professionals will involve topics such as what they obtained through the program, as well as how they feel their genders are perceived in the industry.

It contributes to the current literature on gender inclusion in STEM programs in two ways. While most studies on the topic investigate the impact of such programs by their outcomes (e.g. comparisons of the number of women students in the computer science department after deploying gender inclusion methods), this research explores how participating in these gender inclusion in STEM programs is perceived and experienced by learners. Most empirical studies on the topic often take place in North America and Western Europe. All learners being interviewed in this research come from geographic areas that are currently underrepresented in current literature. This research, therefore, provides personal accounts of how learners from backgrounds outside of these two contexts experience gender inclusion in STEM programs.

5. Please indicate the methods to be used (indicate with an 'X'):	
Analysis of existing records	
Snowball sampling (recruiting through contacts of existing participants)	\boxtimes
Use of casual or local workers e.g. interpreters (refer to guidance in <u>BPG 01:</u> <u>Researcher safety</u>)	
Participant observation	
Covert observation	
Observation of specific organisational practices	
Participant completes questionnaire in hard copy	
Participant completes online questionnaire or other online task (refer to guidance in <u>BPG 06</u> : <u>Internet-mediated research</u>)	
Using social media to recruit or interact with participants (refer to guidance in BPG 06: Internet-mediated research)	
Participant performs paper and pencil task	
Participant performs verbal or aural task (e.g. for linguistic study)	
Focus group	\boxtimes
Interview (refer to guidance in <u>BPG 10: Conducting research interviews</u>)	
Audio recording of participant (you will generally need specific consent from participants for this)	\boxtimes
Video recording of participant (you will generally need specific consent from participants for this)	

Photography of participant (you will generally need specific consent from participants for this)				
Others (please specify below)				
6. Provide a brief summary of the research design and methods. What participants be asked to do? (max 300 words) Please also submit a copy of the questions participants will be asked some information about the sorts of topics that will be covered.			, or	
An information sheet (see Appendix I) that contains details of the project and analyzed and potentially used would be sent to participants beforehand. One is obtained (see Appendix II), participants are invited to participate in focus gestructured interviews. They will be asked to share their experiences organizing gender inclusion for Tech programs. The topics and suggested questions that each group of participants is set out in Appendix III. All interviews with proje individual. Interviews with past learners would take form in focus group disc individual interviews. The focus group interview would happen in pairs or group articipants, in which recordings would be transcribed and analyzed. The idea then be used by the researcher to specify or further develop questions for in with other past learners, as well as current learners of gender inclusion for T Pseudonyms for participants and their associated organizations would be assignated participants and identifying details will be removed.	ce inform groups an ng or part will be c ct leaders ussions as oups of u ntified th dividual i ech progr	ed consider semi- cicipating overed se would as well as per to four terms well as the form th	sent ng in with be s ur	
7. List the location(s) where the research will be conducted, including any other countries. All interviews will be conducted remotely online, via Microsoft Teams.		ely		
8. Clarify which parts of the research will be conducted in-person and which will take place remotely, e.g. online. All interviews will be conducted online, via Microsoft Telegraphics.		remote	ely	
9. If your research involves fieldwork or travel and your department	Ye	S		
requires a travel risk assessment, will you have completed and returned a risk assessment form beforehand? Please indicate with	an No	,		
(This must be approved by your department before you travel. If you are travelling overseas, you are advised to take out <u>University travel</u> insurance.) Refer to guidance available from your Department, the <u>Safety Office</u> , the <u>Social Sciences Division</u> , and the <u>Humanities</u> <u>Division</u> , and on <u>travel for University business</u> .				
10. In the case of international or collaborative research, explain how you will address any ethical issues specific to the local context. Please provide details of the local review, approval or permission obtained or required. Refer to the BPG 16 : Social science research conducted outside the UK. If there will be no local review, explain why not. Please mention any stakeholder or community engagement that has been/ will be undertaken in relation to the research.				

Please also address any physical or psychological risks for Oxford researchers and local fieldworkers in <u>Section G</u> .		
N/A		
11. Name of departmental/ peer reviewer (if applicable)	N/A	
12. External organisation funding the research and grant reference (if applicable)	N/A	
13. Please refer to the CUREC Best Practice Guidance and list any that have been used to develop your research.	BPG 09 Title: Management and Protection of Data Collected for Research Purposes; In particular Appendix A – Guidance on the Remote recording of participants for research projects; Best Practice Guidance 10_Version 1.0 Title: Conducting research interviews	

SE	ECTION D: Recruitment of research	participants	
1.	Number of participants	10-15	
2.	How was the number of participants decided?	This number of participants is anticipated to yield sufficient data for qualitative analysis while working with the constraints of a MSc timetable. The total number will be dependent on the number of positive participant responses.	
3.	Age range of participants	18 and over	
4.	Inclusion criteria	Projects leaders, former participants, or current members of gender inclusion for Tech programs.	
5.	Exclusion criteria	Participants below the age of 18.	
6.	Indicate with an 'X' all intended	Poster advert	
	recruitment methods Please submit copies of the	Flyer	
	recruitment material that will be used,	Email circulation	\boxtimes
	e.g. advertisement text, introductory	Social media (e.g. Twitter, Facebook)	
e	email text.	Website	
		In-person approach	
		Snowball sampling	\boxtimes

		I	
		Recruitment sites (e.g. Mechanical Turk)	
		Existing contacts or volunteer database	\boxtimes
		Other (please specify):	
7.	How will potential participants be identified and approached?	Potential participants are identified throu existing contacts, individual email outres and snowball sampling.	_
8.	Will informed consent be obtained from the research participants or their parents/ guardians? If not, please explain why not.	Yes (see Appendix II)	
9.	For each activity or group of participants, explain how informed consent will be obtained from the participants themselves and/ or their parents/ guardians, if applicable. How will their consent be recorded? Please submit copies of all participant-facing materials for review. E.g.: Recruitment material (e.g. emails, posters) Information for participants to read (or hear) before they agree to take part (e.g. written information or, if applicable, an outline oral information script). A document to record informed consent. Further guidance and templates.	A Participant Information Sheet (Appendi) that contains details of the project and how data will be analysed and potential used would be sent to participants beforehand. A participant consent form (Appendix II) will be included to provide record of informed consent. Additionally, at the beginning of each online interview, the researcher would again ask for the participant's consent to audio record, and remind the participant turn off video.	d ly a
10	Provide details of any payments and incentives and the rationale for providing these. Further guidance in Best Practice Guidance: 05 Payments and incentives in research.	None	
11	 Describe how participants may withdraw from the study may withdraw any personal information they have provided from the study State any limits to withdrawal, for example once the data has been 	Participants can withdraw from the student any point, both in terms of participation well as personal information they provid during the interview that they wish not be included in the final paper.	as ded

anonymised or at some other specified stage prior to publication. Make sure participants are aware of any withdrawal limits.
--

SECTION E: Research data

All information provided by participants is considered research data for the purpose of this form. Any research data from which participants can be identified is known as <u>personal</u> data; any personal data which is sensitive is considered <u>special category data</u>. Management of personal data, either directly or via a third party, must comply with the requirements of the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018, as set out in the <u>University's Guidance on Data Protection and Research</u>.

In answering the questions below, please also consider the points raised in the <u>Data Protection Checklist</u> and <u>Data Protection Screening Assessment</u> and whether, for higher-risk data processing, a separate <u>Data Protection Impact Assessment</u> may also be required for the research. Advice on research data management and security is available from <u>Research Data Oxford</u> and your local IT department. Advice on data protection is available from the <u>Information Compliance team</u>.

For guidance on conducting internet-mediated research, refer to CUREC's <u>Best Practice</u> Guidance 06: Internet-mediated research.

1. What data will be collected? (Indicate with an 'X')				
Screening documents		Task results (e.g. questionnaires, diaries)		
Consent records (e.g., written consent forms, audio-recorded consent, assent forms)		IP addresses (refer to Best Practice Guidance 09: Data collection, protection and management for guidance)		
Contact details for the purpose of this research only	\boxtimes	Field notes		
Contact details for future use (guidance)		Photographs		
Opt-out forms		Information about the health of the participant (including mental health)		
Audio recordings	\boxtimes	Previously collected (secondary) data		
Video recordings		Data already in the public domain. Specify the source of the data:		
Transcript of audio/ video recordings		Other, please specify:		

2.	During the course of the research, where will each type of research data be stored?	Interview recordings, as well as transcriptions and consent forms, would be stored as encrypted files on the University's One Drive. OneDrive for Business, provided as part of the University's Nexus365 offering, has been approved by the University's Information Security team for the storage and sharing of research data			
3.	Who will have access to the research data during the project?	The student researcher and their supervisor would have the research data during the project. Data will be anon de-identified (e.g. by removing all personal information directly identify an individual) and that whilst data might available to other researchers within the team, confident individual participants will be protected.	ymised that cant be n	d or ould nade	
4.	Please complete	Please indicated with an 'X'.	Yes	No	
	this section if your research involves	Are data access agreements in place for access to and use of this secondary data? (If so, please attach these.)			
	the use of secondary (i.e. previously	Did the individuals agree that their data could be used for this purpose?			
	collected) data.	Could anyone (including members of the research team) link the data back to an individual or individuals? If this is a possibility, please explain how the associated ethical issues will be addressed:			
5.	How do you	Depositing in a specialist data centre or archive			
	intend to share the	Submitting to a journal to support a publication			
	research data at the end of the project?	Depositing in an institutional repository			
		Dissemination via a project or institutional website			
		No plans to share the data	\boxtimes		
		Other (please specify):			
6.	How do you	Thesis publication	\boxtimes		
	intend to report and disseminate the results of the research?	Publication in a peer reviewed journal			
		Publicly available report			
		Conference presentation			
	(Indicate with an 'X')	Publication on a website			
	Α)	Pre-registration Pre-registration			
		Report to a research funder			

	Providing participants with a lay summary of the results	\boxtimes
	Submission for academic assessment	
	Other (please specify):	
7. Explain what will hap	open to the data at the end of the research project.	
This question must b forms.	e answered for each type of data, including completed	consent
Whilst the researcher wi	s will be destroyed once the MSc dissertation has been pill have completed the course of study and is unlikely to distranscripts and consent forms will be kept in accordan	remain in

SE	SECTION F: Protection of research participants and their personal data					
1.	How identifiable will the participants be from the <u>research</u> <u>outputs</u> ? (Indicate with an 'X')	Directly identifiable from the information included				
		Pseudonymised/ indirectly identifiable	\boxtimes			
		Not identifiable – data is <u>anonymous</u>				
		Other, please specify:				
2.	To what extent will the data be de-identified? How identifiable will any individuals be from the research data? Describe any measures you will take towards assuring confidentiality, potential risks to confidentiality.	Individual data would be de-identified using pseudonyms for individuals and codes for individual organisations/programs. The researcher will minimise data collection, keeping the num of indirect identifiers to a minimum. Individuals, and their associated organisations, will receive pseudonyms and codes respectively as soon as the interviews are transcribed, so as to mitigate the risk of re-identification. The researcher is aware that answers to open-ended questions sometimes contain identifiers which are connected to responde themselves or other persons, such as name or occupation of a spouse. Disclosure risk will be assessed on a case-to-case basis with re-coding, pseudonyms or deletion of variables being use necessary to preserve confidentiality.				
3.	How will you ensure that third parties (e.g., interpreters and	It is not intended that any third parties will be involved during research.	this			

transcribers) are
aware of and
adhere to the
measures
described in this
form?

SECTION G: Risks and benefits of the research

- 1. Will the research involve topics that could be considered sensitive? If so:
 - a. Please provide more detail or supporting information (such as the interview questions) to show the range of questions;
 - b. Explain what steps will be taken to reduce risk of distress;
 - c. Consider seeking advice from within your Department or from the ethics committee including whether the application might benefit from additional ethics review (e.g., via a CUREC 2 application).

This research would not involve topics that could be considered sensitive. Please see Appendix III. Should the answers to interview questions change direction towards topics that might be considered sensitive, the researcher will make every effort to change the topic of discussion.

2. Describe any additional burden or risks to the participants and the steps you will take to address these.

The participants will be donating their time to the research project without reimbursement, so every effort will be made to stick to suggested time frame for interview. The online interviews will take place using headphones, so that audio can be appropriately and discreetly recorded. Care will be taken to ensure participants are in an appropriate setting for the interviews before recording commences.

3. Describe any physical or psychological risks to the researcher(s) (including local fieldworkers or research assistants) and the steps you will take to address these.

N/A

4. Describe any benefits of the research, both to participants and to others.

This research contributes to a gap in current literature on the underrepresentation of women in STEM by offering qualitative accounts of how women students experience gender inclusion in Tech programs. It also offers contextual experiences of learners and project leaders outside of contexts of North America and Western Europe.

Through a summary of research findings, participants would also engage in knowledge exchange where findings of the research (with no identifiable information) would be exchanged and discussed.

5. Give details of any other ethical issues or relevant information.

Participants will be asked to record personal experiences, but the researcher will seek to stick within the framework of the interview schedules and avoid sensitive disclosures.

SECTION H: Professional guidelines						
Please indicate with an 'X' at least one set of professional guidelines you will follow.						
Research specialism/ methodology	Association and guidance					
Anthropology	Association of Social Anthropologists of the UK					
Computer Science	ACM Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct					
Criminology	British Society of Criminology Statement of Ethics					
Education	British Educational Research Association Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research					
Geography	American Association of Geographers Statement on Professional Ethics					
History	Oral History Society of the UK Ethical Guidelines					
Internet-mediated research	Association of Internet Researchers Ethical Guidelines British Psychological Society: Ethics Guidelines for internet- mediated research Association for Computing Machinery Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct					
Management	Academy of Management Code of Ethics					
Political Science	American Political Science Association (APSA) Guide to Professional Ethics in Political Science					
Politics	Political Studies Association. Guidelines for Good Professional Conduct					
Psychology	British Psychological Society Code of Ethics and Conduct					
Social research	Social Research Association: Ethical Guidelines	\boxtimes				
Socio-legal studies	Socio-Legal Studies Association: Statement of Principles of Ethical Research Practice					
Sociology	The British Sociological Association: Statement of Ethical Practice					
Visual research	ESRC National Centre for Research Methods Review Paper: Visual Ethics: Ethical Issues in Visual Research					
Other professional guidelines						

SECTION I: Endorsements and signatures

Please ensure this form is endorsed by the <u>Principal Investigator</u> (or student's supervisor), the Head of Department (or nominee) and, if student research, by the student themselves. The SSH IDREC Secretariat accepts either option below. If you have a <u>DREC</u>, check which signature option it prefers.

- Option 1: direct email endorsements

 Each of the signatories should submit an email from a University of Oxford email address, indicating their acceptance of the responsibilities listed below.
- Option 2: signatures
 Please scan the signed form and email it to us as a PDF. Pasted images of signatures cannot be accepted.

Endorsement by the Principal Investigator/ student supervisor and student, if applicable

I/ we the researchers understand my/ our responsibilities as Principal Investigator (and student, if applicable) as outlined in the guidance on the CUREC website. I/ we declare that the answers above accurately describe the research as presently designed, and that the ethics committee will be informed of any changes to the project which affect the answers to this form.

I/ we will inform the relevant IDREC if the Principal Investigator changes.

Name of Principal Investigator	
Principal Investigator's signature	
Date	2022/03/14
Name of student (if applicable)	
Student's signature	
Date	2022/03/14

Departmental endorsement – from the Head of Department or nominee (Another senior member of the department may sign where the head of department is the Principal Investigator, or where the Head of Department has appointed a nominee. Example nominees include Deputy Head of Department, Director of Research, or Director of Graduate/ Undergraduate Studies.)

On the basis of the information available to me, I confirm that:

- I am aware of the research proposed and have read this application;
- To the best of my knowledge, the proposed design and scientific methodology do not raise ethical concerns;
- I support this research in principle, subject to ethical and other necessary reviews.

Signature	Instead of a signature, endorsement may be provided by an email confirming the points above.
Name	
Role	
Date	

CUREC Approval



Perceptions and Experiences of Gender Inclusion Ed-Tech Programs CIA-22HT-047

The above application has been considered on behalf of the Departmental Research Ethics Committee (DREC) in accordance with the procedures laid down by the University for ethical approval of all research involving human participants.

Our prior discussion on this was very useful – an impressive team as ever, and project, vastly experienced, and a model of genuine care in relation to research ethics.

I am pleased to inform you, then, that, on the basis of the information provided to DREC, the proposed research has been judged as meeting appropriate ethical standards, and accordingly, approval has been granted.

Please continue to follow all current guidance issued by CUREC during the pandemic, notably COVID-19: CUREC guidance on research involving human participants, https://researchsupport.admin.ox.ac.uk/governance/ethics/coronavirus

If relevant please also check the CUREC website for their best practice research guides, these can be very useful in refining the writing up of ethical considerations in your research – see https://researchsupport.admin.ox.ac.uk/governance/ethics/resources/bpg

Good luck with your research study,

Keep well and safe,

Yours sincerely,

All good wishes,

Liam

Chair, DREC

Liam Francis Gearon, PhD, FHEA, FRSA, Docent





Senior Research Fellow, Harris Manchester College, University of Oxford Associate Professor, Department of Education, University of Oxford Conjoint Full Professor, Newcastle University, Australia Docent, University of Helsinki, Finland Extraordinary Professor, North-West University, South Africa Visiting Professor, Irish Institute for Catholic Studies, MIC, Limerick, Ireland Honorary Senior Research Fellow, School of Education, University of Birmingham

Appendix C

Written Informed Consent Form

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Thank you for your interest in participating in this research study. It is important that you understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read this information, and discuss it with others if you wish.

What is the purpose of the study?

This study aims to investigate how gender inclusion educational technology programs are perceived and experienced by learners and leaders of gender inclusion for tech programs. Building on past literature on the topic, this study specifically explores how different aspects of women's identities affect their experiences of gender inclusion for Tech education programs from a range of international contexts. The research will be written up as part of an MSc dissertation in Education: Digital and Social Change.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited to participate in this study because you have experience organizing or participating in gender inclusion for tech programs. I am hoping to speak to 10-15 individuals linked to a range of programs and in several geographical contexts.

What does participation involve?

You will be invited to take part in a semi-structured interview that should take about 30 minutes, in either the form of individual or focus group discussions. If you are a program leader, the format of the interview would be individual. If you are a past or a current participant of gender inclusion for Tech education programs, you might be invited to participate in either form of the interview. The researcher would confirm which form of the interview you would be participating in.

No preparation before the interview is required. The interview will take place online, via Microsoft Teams or similar software. With your permission, it will be audio-recorded and transcribed.

All interview data can be de-identified as far as possible, including your personal information and the organizations you are associated with, and codes/pseudonyms will be assigned to your data as soon as your interview is transcribed. Whilst data may be shared with the wider research team, your confidentiality will be protected.

Do I have to take part?

The answer is 'No'. Taking part is entirely voluntary. You may withdraw if you later change your mind, without giving a reason.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

CTRG form 306l v8.0 Template Participant Information Sheet 20 January 2021

Page 1 of 3

You will be able to review the research outputs, which I hope will be of interest to you and, where applicable, your organization.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

The data collected would be kept strictly confidential, available only to my supervisor and myself, and not used other than specified without the further consent of all involved being obtained. All recordings would be destroyed at the end of the research period and kept in secure conditions until then. Directly identifying information will be removed as far as possible from the research data collected. Your data will be allocated a pseudonym, and any programmes you are associated with will be allocated a code. The de-identified transcripts will be stored in an encrypted file in a secure University storage facility. Once the study has ended, de-identified research data will be archived according to University guidelines.

Who is organising and funding the study?

this project has been reviewed by	, and received ethics clearance through, a s	subcommittee of the University of
Oxford Central University Research	h Ethics Committee under reference numb	er CIA-22HT-047.
The Principal Researcher is	f Education at the University of	
Oxford. This project is being comp	pleted under the supervision of	You may ask any questions before
deciding to take part by contacting	If there is anything that is not	
clear, or if you would like more inj	formation, please ask us.	_

Thank you for reading this information.

CTRG form 306l v8.0 Template Participant Information Sheet 20 January 2021

Page 2 of 3

Perceptions and Experiences of Gender Inclusion Tech Programs CONSENT FORM FOR PARTICIPANTS

Central University Research Ethics Committee (CUREC) Approval Reference: xxxxx

Please review the following information and if it is okay with you, indicate consent for each one. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, and without any adverse consequences or penalty. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, and without any adverse consequences or penalty. I understand that this project has been reviewed by, and received ethics clearance through, the University of Oxford Central University Research Ethics Committee. I understand who will have access to personal data provided, how the data will be stored and what will happen to the data at the end of the project. I understand how this research may be written up and published. I understand who should contact for questions or concerns. I consent to being audio recorded. I understand how audio recordings will be used in research outputs. I give permission to be quoted directly in the research write-up if a pseudonym is used, and identifying information is removed as far as possible. I agree to take part in the study. Name of Participant Date Signature Name of person taking consent Date Signature